REPRODUCTIVE PERFORMANCE OF NATURALIZED RAINBOW TROUT (Oncorhynchus mykiss, WALBAUM 1792) FROM SAGANA COLD WATER STREAM AND IMPLICATION ON FRY PRODUCTION FOR AQUACULTURE DEVELOPMENT IN KENYA

NJUE JUSTUS NYAGA

A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE SCHOOL OF NATURAL RESOURCES AND ENVIRONMENTAL STUDIES IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT FOR THE CONFERMENT OF THE DEGREE OF MASTER OF SCIENCE IN ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCE, KARATINA UNIVERSITY

OCTOBER, 2023

DECLARATION

This thesis is my original work and has not been presented for Conferment of a degree in any other University or for any other award.

Justus Nyaga Njue

N301/2079P/20)

Signature

Date.....

Declaration by supervisors

We confirm that the work reported in this thesis report was carried out by the candidate under our supervision and has been submitted with our approval as university supervisors

Prof. Charles Ngugi, PhD

Department of Natural Resource Studies

School of Natural Resources and Environtal Science

Karatina University

Signature.....

Date:

Prof. Mucai Muchiri, PhD

Department of Natural Resource Studies

School of Natural Resources and Environtal Science

Karatina University

Signature.....

Date:

DEDICATION

Efforts in this thesis are dedicated to my dearest wife and my beloved children who have been the pillar of my strength.

ACKNOWLEDGEMENT

I express my sincere appreciation to my supervisors in Karatina University, Prof. Charles Ngugi and Prof. Mucai Muchiri for their academic mentorship in the process of thesis research. I sincerely thanks the State Department of Fisheries, Aquaculture and the Blue Economy through Kenya Fisheries Service (KeFS) and Kenya Marine and Fisheries Research Institute (KMFRI) for their contribution to this study. I especially thank the Masters Class lecturers in Karatina University for their visionary guidance towards the completion of this academic work. I am also grateful to Kenya Wildlife and Fisheries Training Institute (KWFTI) and Kiganjo trout hatchery staffs for their assistance during this study.

ABSTRACT

Naturalized rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) populations form important recreational fishing resource in the world. Globally, rainbow trout is among the most widely introduced fish species and has been translocated outside its native home range, into at least 99 countries including the tropical regions where it has established naturalized populations. Information on the performance of the hatchery and wild populations of *O. mykiss* following spawning interactions has not been adequately explored especially in the tropical environments. The current study aimed at evaluating the spawning interactions between naturalized and wild O. mykiss from the high altitude second order stream, the Sagana in Kenya. Spawning and incubation were performed under controlled conditions in a hatchery facility to assess their performance. In each spawning process, total length, weight, condition factor and fecundity of the brooders were recorded. Fertilization rate, hatchability and survival of the fry were determined. Egg diameters were modelled as a function of biometric and reproduction parameters, using generalized linear model. Total fecundity of the broodstock differed significantly among the wild strain, hatchery reared and the cross between hatchery and wild stock (F = 8.934, df = 2, P = 0.0045). The fecundity of the broodstock varied with the average weight of the brooders where brooders with high average weight had a high fecundity. Relative fecundity was significantly different among the three groups of fish (F = 6.134, df = 2, P = 0.0217) but the differences between the hatchery and cross strain of wild and hatchery fish were not significant. Fertilization rate showed significant differences among fish in the three experimental groups (F = 10.136, df = 2, P = 0.0057), Eyed egg survival was lowest among the wild fish but showed no significant differences between the hatchery and cross between wild and hatchery strains. The study recommends the use of hatchery and wild crossed fish to support fry production for use in subsequent restocking of all trout streams in the country. Based on this study, management strategies involving restoration of trout population that would benefit anglers without reliance on importation of eved eggs are recommended.

TABLE OF CONTENTS

DECLARATIONii
DEDICATIONiii
ACKNOWLEDGEMENTiv
ABSTRACTv
LIST OF TABLES
LIST OF FIGURESix
ABBREVIATION AND ACRONYMSxi
CHAPTER ONE
INTRODUCTION1
1.1 Background to the study1
1.2 Statement of the problem
1.3 Objectives6
1.3.1 General objective6
1.3.2 Specific objectives of the Study7
1.4 Hypotheses of the study7
1.5 Justification of the study7
CHAPTER TWO9
LITERATURE REVIEW9
2.1 Background information on rainbow trout9
2.2 Habitat requirements for trout10
2.3 Reproductive strategies and spawning habitats10
2.4 Reproductive performance of naturalised rainbow trout in cold water streams 11
2.5 Propagation of rainbow trout
2.6 Trout stream riparian cover15

2.7 Water quality parameters	15
2.7.1 Temperature	16
2.7.2 Dissolved oxygen	16
2.7.3 pH	17
CHAPTER THREE	19
MATERIALS AND METHODS	
3.1 Study area	19
3.2 Study design	20
3.2.1 Fish collection	20
3.2.2 Hatchery management of broodstock and artificial fertilization	20
3.3.3 Rearing of fry	23
3.4 Analytical techniques	24
3.4.1 Length-weight relationships	24
3.4.2 Fulton's condition factor (K)	24
3.4.3 Biometry and reproductive traits	25
3.5 Statistical analyses	26
CHAPTER FOUR	
DATA ANALYSIS, PRESENTATION AND INTERPRETATION	
4.3 Reproductive traits among hatchery, wild, and crossed rainbow trout	
CHAPTER FIVE	44
5.1 Summary of findings	44
5.2 Conclusions5.3 Recommendations5.3.1 The sustainability of trout fisheries	53 53 53
5.3.2 Suggestions for further research REFERENCES	53
APPENDICES	83

LIST OF TABLES

Table 1: Water quality requirements for rainbow trout farming
Table 2: The mean, minimum and maximum water parameters recorded in the
hatchery from April to September29
Table 3: Biometric parameters for breeders of a naturalized rainbow trout population
from River Sagana. In parenthesis, the sample size (n) is indicated30
Table 4: Paired comparisons t-tests for biometric differences among female and male
breeders of a naturalized rainbow trout population from River Sagana,
recorded during three reproductive seasons. n=sample size
Table 5: Regression equations of rainbow trout from hatchery-reared, wild and
crossed fish showing relationships between log weight (g) and log total length
(cm)
Table 6: Reproductive parameters for female breeders of naturalized wild and
hatchery reared rainbow trout populations during sampling period in 2021. In
parenthesis, the sample size (n) is indicated
Table 7: Coefficients for the regression of total fecundity, relative fecundity, egg
diameter and eyed egg survival on reproductive variables for the naturalized
rainbow trout of River Sagana

LIST OF FIGURES

Figure 1: Life cycle of rainbow trout (source: National Trout Hatchery Annual
Report, 2020)
Figure 2: Location of Sagana second order stream flowing from South eastern slopes
of Mt. Kenya showing the study site as S1-S3
Figure 3: Experimental process of the breeding-wild with wild, wild with hatchery
and hatchery with hatchery
Figure 4: The length-weight relationship among rainbow trout under different
breeding conditions
Figure 5: Log-transformed length-weight relationship among traits under different
breeding conditions
Figure 6: Bivariate linear regression between Total fecundity (No. of eggs/female)
against female body weight in (a) wild population, (b) hatchery reared
population and (c) wild \times hatchery reared population of rainbow trout in River
Sagana
Figure 7: Bivariate linear regression between Total fecundity (No. of eggs/female)
against egg weight (g) in (a) wild population, (b) hatchery reared population
and (c) wild \times hatchery reared population of rainbow trout in River Sagana39
Figure 8. Bivariate linear regression between Relative fecundity (No. of eggs/kg fish)
against female body weight and egg weight (g) in (a) wild population, (b)
hatchery reared population and (c) wild \times hatchery reared population of
rainbow trout in Sagana40
Figure 9: Bivariate linear regression between Relative fecundity (No. of eggs/kg fish)
against egg weight (g) in (a) wild population, (b) hatchery reared population

ABBREVIATION AND ACRONYMS

ATU	Accumulated Thermal Units
BOD	Biochemical Oxygen Demand
ED	Egg Diameter
EES	Eyed Egg Survival
FAO	Food and Agricultural Organisation
FR	Fertilization Rate
GLMM	General Linear Mixed Model
ICES	Internation Council for the exploration of the Seas
IPCC	Intergovernmental Panel on Climate Change
KeFS	Kenya Fisheries Service
KMFRI	Kenya Marine and Fisheries Research Institute
KWFTI	Kenya Wildlife and Fisheries Training Institute
LWR	Length- Weight Relationship
MT	Metric Tonnes
RF	Relative Fecundity
RRDC	River Research and Development Centre
SDGs	Sustainable Development Goals
SPSS	Statistical Package for Social Sciences
TF	Fecundity
VIF	Variation Inflation Factor

CHAPTER ONE

INTRODUCTION

1.1 Background to the study

The declining fish stocks as a result of increased exploitation of seas and inland waters for food, commerce and recreation, have necessitated measures aimed at enhancing fish stocks (Rands *et al.*, 2010; Gebremedhin *et al.*, 2021). Aquaculture sector, being the most rapidly growing sector in the world (11% since 1984), has made important contribution to poverty alleviation, food security and improvements in fish stocks particulary in several developing countries (Kinkela *et al.*, 2019; Brugere *et al.*, 2023). In amny developing countries, there is still a considerable need for growth in aquaculture to end hunger and achieve food security as envisaged by the Sustainablle Development Goals (SDGs) (Troell *et al.*, 2023). In the curremporary world, aquaculture is going through blue revolution, refering to the massive growth aas well as intensification of aquaculture production (Ahmed and Thompson, 2019; Silvestri *et al.*, 2023). Blue revolution seek to achieve a balance between sustainability of resources, environmentally sound practices, productivity and profits in response to environmental damage resulting from the practices developed in the green revolution (Frid, 2023).

Aquaculture will continue to play a major and ever-increasing role in meeting human needs for animal source food (Garlock *et al.*, 2022; Roebuck, 2023). According to Food and Agriculture Organization (FAO), world aquaculture production achieved 87.5 million tonnes of aquatic animals (US\$144.4 billion), including 66.6 million MT of food fish (US\$137.7 billion) and 23.8 million MT of aquatic algae (mostly seaweeds, US\$6.4 billion) (FAO United Nations, 2022). The production of farmed food fish was 42.2% of the global fish production. The present data indicate that

between 2012 and 2022, world food fish from aquaculture production rose by 5.8%. This prospect of strong growth in aquaculture will persist in the foreseeable future especially in the Sub Saharan Africa (Hinrichsen *et al.*, 2022). Morever, the prospects for growth of aquaculture in the Sub Saharan Africa stems from shortfall in supply of fish from the more developed Internation Council for the exploration of the Seas (ICES) countries such as the USA, European Union and East Asian countries (Froehlich *et al.*, 2021).

Kenya has recorded tremendous growth in aquaculture since its inception believed to be in 1921 (Maar *et al.*, 1966; Ngugi *et al.*, 2007)., when the colonial administration introduced trout, common carp (*Cyprinus carpio*) and black bass (*Micropterus dolomieu*) into the country's waters with the original intent of enhancing recreational fishing. Thereafter, cultivation of these species and later of tilapia and African catfish, commenced. Hastened development of Nile tilapia and catfish aquaculture occurred in the 1960s (Aloo *et al.*, 2017). The country's aquaculture production 12,152 mt in 2010 to 22,140 mt in 2022, accounting for 12.7% of the country's total fish output (Munguti *et al.*, 2023). Sustinanance of growth in aquaculture has occurred partly due to increased public fuding in the sector (Mwamuye *et al.*, 2012; Munguti *et al.*, 2014) and owing to increased supply of seeds of Nile tilapia (*Orechromis niloticus*) and African catfish (*Clarius gariepinus*) from hatcheries (Syanya and Mathia, 2023). The country has over 1.14-million-hectare potential area suitable for fish farming with capacity to produce over 11 million MT of fish annualy.

Over the years, development of aquaculture in Kenya has faced challenges despite the public financing of the sector (Adekola *et al.*, 2022; Cheruiyot and Adhiaya, 2023).

The neglect of cold water aquaculture has resulted in its contribution of a paltry 0.5% of the total national fish production (Obwanga et al., 2020). Recently, programmes aimed at boosting cold water aquaculture species have relied on compensatation for declining stocks from capture fisheries through stock enhancement programmes. The main cold water species in Kenya are the exotic rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) and brown trout (Salmo trutta). These species were introduced in Kenya between the year 1905 to 1920 particularly in rivers within the Mt. Kenya by the white settler for the purpose of sport fishing and other recreational needs (Copley, 1940; Seegers et al., 2003). By the year 1920, most rivers originating from Mt Kenya had been stocked with trout. The naturalized population of rainbow trout was introduced to all coldwater rivers in Central and Western part of Kenya (Ngugi and Green, 2007; Weyl et al., 2017). Brown trout is cultured mainly for sport fishing due to its slow growth rate and is low tolerance to desiccation, and water quality changes, therefore not preferred under commercial culture systems while rainbow trout being more tolerant to water quality and faster growth rate is preffered for aquaculture in the colder regions (Molony and Molony, 2001). Currently, the production of these trouts from aquaculture in Kenya is still too low (Olalekan et al., 2022).

The declining trout stocks populations have necessitated measures aimed at enhancing their yilds, recoveri decline in stock and reduce unexpected extinction risk(s) (Rands *et al.*, 2010; Gebremedhin *et al.*, 2021). Among the measures aimed at increasing trout population owing to dwindling stock is introduction of exotic species and release into an area the species previously existed but has since been extirpated, or releasing fish into the wild to augment the viability of the extant population (Katsanevakis *et al.*, 2013; Galloway *et al.*, 2016; Bennett-Jones *et al.*, 2021). Once the fish species

have been introduced to an area, they become naturalized through integration into the existing ecosystem to be able to reproduce and grow in the new environment and disseminate spontaneously (Stanković *et al.*, 2015; Estay *et al.*, 2021). The trouts in Kenya have been naturalized in many of the rivers of the highland regions through hatchery programmes, enabling it to become integrated into these aquatic systems (Ngugi and Green, 2007).

Hatcheries have played an important role in supporting the harvest and conservation of rainbow trout. Hatchery reared fish now make up large proportions of some stocks (Pulcini et al., 2014; Crichigno and Cussac, 2019). Nevertheless, hatchery use has become increasingly controversial because of the potential for negative interactions between hatchery-reared (hatchery) and naturally spawned (wild) fish (Scott *et al.*, 2015; Pinter *et al.*, 2019; Crichigno *et al.*, 2021). Stocked fish can negatively affect wild fish through genetic contamination, predation, competition, induction of premature migration, mixed-stock exploitation problems, predator attraction, and disease transmission (Fast *et al.*, 2015; Anderson *et al.*, 2020). Currently, there are a number of private and public hatcheries that have been established to enable the efficient cultivation of naturalized trouts. As a result, the viability and fitness of the wild and hatchery conditions. This assertion, however, needs further investigation, especially in many tropical countries where *O. mykiss* has been introduced.

Reproductive performance studies of naturalized salmonids populations are an important data source especially when determining the status of sport fishing and stream health and their integrity against a backdrop of various anthropogenic activities taking place in these watersheds (Estay *et al.*, 2021). Anglers report that rainbow trout in the high-altitude streams are in decline and the populations sizes and abundance is a concern (Okwiri *et al.*, 2019). There is a general assertion that the number of spawners has reduced and recruitment is very low. Previously streams have been stocked on a put-grow and take fishery where the eyed eggs were imported, incubated in the hatchery, and fingerlings released in the streams. Hatchery fish are reported to be poorly adapted to wild environments (Pinter *et al.*, 2019). If this is the case with cold water streams, then the abundance of wild fish can decline in a short while and reduced recruitment will result in smaller breeding population sizes and genetic diversity is lost as a result of outbreeding depression (Tsuboi *et al.*, 2019). As the genetic diversity is lost, trout populations become more susceptible to inbreeding depression and reduce survival of the young further reducing population sizes and abundance.

The lack of knowledge on spawning behaviour and survival potential of naturalized as well as hatchery reared fish that are later released into the stream limits the ability to fully assess the risks involved in maintaining a population that would support rainbow trout sport fisheries and develop a species management plan. It is important to address this issue, since this analysis may provide information for improving the management of rainbow trout in cold water streams in this country. In this study, spawning interactions between wild and hatchery-reared naturalized *O. mykiss* from River Sagana in Kenya was carried out to describe their performance and to explore the variables that could determine condition factor, fecundity, and fertilization in addition to egg survival and size.

1.2 Statement of the problem

Developing countries are currently grappling with poverty and hunger with millions of people dying from malnutrition owing to shortage of animal protein (KILIC, 2022). Kenya is no exception in this predicament. In many African countries, the quick production of greater amounts of animal protein by their own means is not only a central problem of the food economy, but also a prime question of economic importance (Wood and Tavan, 2022). A comparatively small effort put in fisheries development will quickly result in improved standards of living and nutrition, help secure food security for domestic consumption and even for export, if the prerequisites are fully recognized. For sustainable development of rainbow trout farming in Kenya, the information available on rainbow trout breed improvement is limited. This study therefore proposes to investigate the status of cold-water fish aquaculture and breed improvement for rainbow trout fish in Kenya with an insight on how to improve the breed for increased production. Kenya is endowed with numerous aquatic resources with aquaculture potential (Aura et al., 2022). Most of these resources are located in rural areas. Adoption of aquaculture will therefore open up new avenues for poverty alleviation in rural areas by increasing employment opportunity through provision of hired labour in aquaculture farms and help in meeting the nutritional needs of the people.

1.3 Objectives

1.3.1 General objective

The overall objective of the study was to investigate the reproductive performance of naturalized rainbow trout in cold water streams and its implication on fry production for aquaculture development in Kenya.

1.3.2 Specific objectives of the Study

- To compare the reproductive performance of hatchery and wild naturalized brooders of rainbow trout
- 2. To investigate the survival rate of different populations up to fingerlings of rainbow trout.
- 3. To investigate the impact of change in seasons on trout fecundity of wild and hatchery populations

1.4 Hypotheses of the study

The hypotheses of the study were:

- **H**₀₁: There is no significant difference in reproductive performance between hatchery grown brooders and wild naturalized brooders of rainbow trout.
- **H**₀₂: There is no significant difference in the survival rate of different populations of rainbow trout.
- **H**₀₃: There is no significant difference on trout fecundity due to change in season on both wild and hatchery populations.

1.5 Justification of the study

Rainbow trout aquaculture is a lucrative venture with data showing it to be the second most expensive fish in the Kenya after Nile perch (*Lates niloticus*) for both fresh water fish and marine fish, with one metric ton costing approximately Kshs. 225,000. Despite this, information available on rainbow trout aquaculture in Kenya is limited, there is no enough knowledge on trout reproductive performance under natural and hatachery condition. This negatively impacts investment which has a very high potential of improving the livelihoods of rural people. For this reason, a government

trout farm was established in the Sagana area in year 1948 (Ngugi and Green, 2007). The development of aquaculture sub-sector will increase full use of the resources, create employment for the youth and women and also increase rural incomes. This study seeks to fill this gap in the country by investigating reproduction potential of rainbow trout and the survival rate of fingerlings.

CHAPTER TWO

LITERATURE REVIEW

2.1 Background information on rainbow trout

Rainbow trout is cold water fish that have long been symbolic of clear, healthy mountain streams and lakes in North America (Scarnecchia *et al.*, 2022). Because of its ability to thrive in hatcheries, rainbow trout has been introduced into much of the United States and now inhabit many streams and lakes throughout the country (Graham *et al.*, 2019). The popularity of rainbow trout among anglers has placed it among the top five sport fishes in North America, and it is considered by many to be the most important game fish west of the Rocky Mountains (Arismendi *et al.*, 2019). However, reduction of good quality trout habitat due to stream bank and upland soil erosion, loss of riparian vegetation, water diversion, logging and mining activities, and point and non–point source pollution from municipal development and agriculture have significantly reduced the distribution and abundance of rainbow trout (Bunt and Jacobson, 2019; Stiling *et al.*, 2021). In addition, construction of dams, road crossings, and other structures impede the ability of rainbow trout to migrate upstream and down-stream, which is critical to successful completion of their life cycles (Cantin *et al.*, 2021; Estay *et al.*, 2021).

Implementing sound ecosystem management practices and stream and riparian improvements on private lands can help improve cold-water habitats used by rainbow trout and a host of other aquatic species (Hasegawa, 2020; Barabe, 2021). The life history requirements of the species vary tremendously depending on where the trout lives and whether it spends its life entirely in freshwater, or migrates to the sea for several years of growth before returning to its freshwater birthplace to spawn (Devaa and Ramesh, 2021; Porcel *et al.*, 2022). However, studies are limited in the tropical regions where the fish species has been introduced and therefore these aspects are only known for the temperate regions.

2.2 Habitat requirements for trout

Cold headwaters, creeks, small to large rivers, cool lakes, estuaries, and oceans comprise the habitats collectively used by the different populations of rainbow trout (Fetherman and Avila, 2022; Jan *et al.*, 2023). Depending on the genetic makeup of a trout population and the habitat conditions, rainbow trout will use some or all of these aquatic habitats during their lives (Collins and Baxter, 2020; Singh and Srivastava, 2023). Good trout stream habitat is complex, consisting of an array of riffles and pools, submerged wood, boulders, undercut banks and aquatic vegetation (Morrisett *et al.*, 2023). The ability to swim to and from different habitats from ocean to headwaters, or from tributary confluence to headwaters, increases the value of individual habitat components (Quinn, 2021; Hrabik *et al.*, 2023). Assuring fish passage through artificial barriers in a system of connected habitats greatly enhances the capability of an aquatic system to sustain rainbow trout populations (Kristensen *et al.*, 2019). Rainbow trout normally attains sexual maturity at an age of 3 years however, feeding strategy, temperature, light conditions significantly influence it sexual maturity (Sahashi *et al.*, 2023).

2.3 Reproductive strategies and spawning habitats

Rainbow trout spawn in main river channels and their tributaries, and inlet or outlet streams of lakes. During their spawning migrations, they are famous for their ability and tenacity to return to the streams where they hatched (Estay *et al.*, 2021).

Generally spawning in the spring and early summer, rainbow trout most commonly use stream riffles located downstream from pools as spawning areas (Kurta *et al.*, 2023). Tributaries and inlet and outlet streams containing gravels between one-half and three-inches in size are the most suitable resident trout spawning habitats (Flanagan, 2022; Nevoux *et al.*, 2022a). Using the tail, the female digs a depression in the gravel, called a *redd* and deposits her eggs, as an attending male fertilizes them (Schleppenbach, 2023). Riffle and pool tail-out habitats with well-aerated gravels free of sediment are ideal spawning habitat (Bazaz *et al.*, 2022).

Trout deposit eggs within a range of water depths and velocities that minimize the risk of desiccation as water levels recede with the seasons (Maruvada, 2019; Skoglund *et al.*, 2023). Sufficient water depth and sediment-free spawning gravels are critical to ensure that water can percolate through the spaces in the gravel, bringing oxygen to the eggs and removing metabolic wastes associated with incubation and hatching (Raine *et al.*, 2021; Fennell *et al.*, 2023). After hatching, young trout remain in the gravel until most of the yolk reserves, they are born with are used up. They emerge from the gravel as swimming fry ready to search for food (Pavel *et al.*, 2022).

2.4 Reproductive performance of naturalised rainbow trout in cold water streams

Currently, rainbow trout is the most widely introduced salmonid worldwide and one of the most widely introduced fish species in general (Hasegawa, 2020; D'Agaro *et al.*, 2022). Since 1870, when the California Acclimatization Society conducted the first artificial propagation of rainbow trout from the San Francisco Bay area (Healy *et al.*, 2020), the species has been introduced into at least 99 countries, with populations

established in at least 53 of them (Hansen *et al.*, 2019). Such global success can be ascribed to a combination of factors: the importance of rainbow trout as a valued game-fish, its tolerance of relatively high temperatures, manipulation of life histories through selective breeding, rapid growth and suitability for hatchery cultivation and its economic importance in food production (Bosch *et al.*, 2019; Lobón-Cerviá *et al.*, 2019; Muhlfeld *et al.*, 2019). As a result, rainbow trout have successfully invaded many regions and, in some, even produced self-sustaining populations that can have strong impacts on local native fish populations and ecosystems (Pastorino *et al.*, 2019; Faulkner *et al.*, 2020).

2.5 Propagation of rainbow trout

Freshwater resident rainbow trout usually inhabit and spawn in small to moderately large, well-oxygenated, shallow rivers with gravel bottoms (Dieterman and Mitro, 2019). Lake resident rainbow trout are usually found in moderately deep, cool lakes with adequate shallows, and generally require access to gravelly bottomed streams for spawning (Antonov *et al.*, 2020; Borisenko *et al.*, 2022). Spawning sites are usually a bed of fine gravel in a riffle above a pool. A female trout clears a redd in the gravel by turning on her side and beating her tail up and down (Woś and Książek, 2022). Female rainbow trout usually produce 2000 to 3000 4-to-5-millimetre eggs per kilogram of weight (Källo *et al.*, 2022; Madenjian *et al.*, 2023). As eggs are released by the female, male moves alongside and deposits milt (sperm) over the eggs to fertilize them. The eggs hatch in four to seven weeks depending on temperature and the yolk sac fry or alevins commence feeding on zooplankton about two weeks after the yolk is consumed (Ferguson and Prodöhl, 2022). The growth rate of *O. mykiss* is

variable and affected by area, habitat, life history and quality and quantity of food (Mundahl and Schnaser, 2023).

Trout does not spawn naturally in aquaculture systems (Weber et al., 2023b), hence the need for artificial insemination so as to achieve production and ensure its continuity under culture conditions (İnanan, 2020; Judycka et al., 2023). Artificial insemination (reproduction) is the collection of spermatozoa and ova and their mixing together in various media that keep spermatozoa motile (Butzge et al., 2021). It is carried out in only a few species (mostly freshwater), such as salmonids, cyprinids and acipenserids. In traditional artificial insemination, the gametes are simply put together and the usual external medium (fresh or salt water) is added. The results are limited, particularly as concerns gamete economy: the sperm of a single male can fertilize only several females (Shindavina et al., 2021). However, some recent studies, re-examining the concept of artificial insemination, have proposed better techniques for managing brood fish and their gametes (Beirão et al., 2019; Guan et al., 2019). The number of brood stock required is dependent on the number of fry or fingerlings required to meet the production schedule of the farm. The number can be backcalculated based on survival rates at the different life stages and the fecundity of the brood stock females (Figure 1).

Generally, one male to three females is deemed a satisfactory sex ratio for brood stock (D'Ambrosio *et al.*, 2020). Males and females are generally kept separate. Brood stock maintenance can be costly and labour intensive, causing some farms to purchase eyed eggs from other sources; these should be 'certified disease free', although they should be treated with iodine (100 mg/litre for 10 min) upon arrival and gradually raised to the hatchery temperature (Paul *et al.*, 2022). Brood stocks are selected for

fast growth and early maturation (usually after 2 years). One frequently used management tool is the use of sex-reversed, all-female brood stock to produce all-female progeny that grow faster (Panasiak *et al.*, 2023). Functional males are produced by oral administration of the male hormone 17-methyl testosterone through starter feeds at the fry stage.



Figure 1: Life cycle of rainbow trout (source: National Trout Hatchery Annual Report, 2020)

2.6 Trout stream riparian cover

Bank structure, in-stream wood and boulders, and riparian vegetation provide protective refuge and hiding cover for rainbow trout (Caldwell *et al.*, 2020; Tamario *et al.*, 2021). Undercut banks, overhanging vegetation, turbulent or deep water, submerged or semi-submerged wood, aquatic plant beds, root masses, and large rocks also contribute to habitat diversity for rainbow trout and other aquatic life important to trout for food (Nevoux *et al.*, 2019; Richer *et al.*, 2019). Riparian vegetation (vegetation growing along a river or stream) such as trees, shrubs, grasses and forbs provide shade which moderates water temperatures and is a source of woody cover when limbs and trees fall into the stream (Wilbur *et al.*, 2020; Dauwalter *et al.*, 2022). Roots of riparian vegetation help stabilize stream banks, reducing siltation and maintaining water quality (Smialek *et al.*, 2021; Mochnacz *et al.*, 2023). Riparian plants also provide habitat for terrestrial insects that may serve as trout food (Farha *et al.*, 2020; Smith *et al.*, 2020). There is however lack of studies of these parameters in the trout aquaculture in many developing countries including trout culture in Kenyan highland areas.

2.7 Water quality parameters

Water quality is a combination of chemical, physical and biological parameters that affect the growth of cultured fish. The success of a commercial aquaculture activity depends on the optimal environmental conditions for accelerated growth at the lowest cost of resources (Boyd and Tucker, 2012; Boyd and Tucker, 2014). Water quality affects the general status of the cultured body as it determines the state of health and growth of the cultured fish (Salim *et al.*, 2016; Haq and Harigovindan, 2022). The

water quality is, therefore, an essential factor to consider when planning an intensive aquaculture system suitable for trout production. Critical parameters for consideration in trout aquaculture systems are temperature, suspended solids and dissolved oxygen, nitrite, ammonia, alkalinity and carbon dioxide (Davidson *et al.*, 2013; Kocer and Sevgili, 2014).

ParameterTrout Tolerance RangeTemperature (°c)4-20DO (mg/l)<2.5</td>pH<4.5-9>

Table 1: Water quality requirements for rainbow trout farming

(Alabaster and Lloyd, 2013)

2.7.1 Temperature

Trout presence and distribution is based on water temperature, although the range of suitable temperature for its growth is quite broad (Pankhurst and King, 2010; Mugwanya *et al.*, 2022). Optimal temperatures for rainbow trout are in the range from 9 to 18°C (Ma *et al.*, 2023; Naz *et al.*, 2023). At water temperatures below 9°C and above 20°C trout metabolic rate decreases while temperatures values that are above 20°C are not suitable for trout growth and temperature above 24°C is lethal (Yu *et al.*, 2022; Dempsey *et al.*, 2023).

2.7.2 Dissolved oxygen

Dissolved oxygen is the most important parameter, requiring continuous monitoring in aquaculture production systems, because fish aerobic metabolism requires dissolved oxygen (Caldwell and Hinshaw, 1994; Jiang *et al.*, 2021). Rainbow trout is extremely demanding on the level of dissolved oxygen in the water, the optimal concentration should not be less than 9 mg/l (Galezan *et al.*, 2020). Trout can tolerate water saturation with pure oxygen to 50 mg/l (Edsall and Smith, 1990; Waldrop *et al.*, 2020). Lethal concentration of oxygen in the water for trout is 2.5 mg/l (Nepal *et al.*, 2021). In an experiment that involved cultivation of trout in cages it shows that at high temperatures, the content of dissolved oxygen in water is not less than 9 mg/l (Devaa and Ramesh, 2021). During the whole period of cultivation of a rainbow trout especially during periods of intensive breeding, it is necessary to continuously monitor oxygen concentrations in cages because the concentration of oxygen at the normal growth of fish should be at the water temperature of 5°C – not less than 5.0 mg/l, at 10°C – not less than 6.0 mg/l, at 15°C – not less than 7.0 mg/l and at 20°C – not less than 8.0 mg/l (Welker *et al.*, 2019; Coutinho De Lima *et al.*, 2020).

Among the water quality parameters, dissolved oxygen is highly affected when fouling and silting occurs in cages, the oxygen for a few hours may be reduced to a critical value (6–7 mg/l) or even lethal concentration (2–3 mg/l) (Tang *et al.*, 2020; Uiuiu *et al.*, 2020). The lack of oxygen in the culture units can be judged by the behaviour of fish in water. Eliminating such a situation can be achieved by aerators, which intensively pump air or oxygen through the water environment (Pleizier *et al.*, 2021; Alimova *et al.*, 2023).

2.7.3 pH

At cultivation of rainbow trout, it is preferable to use water with pH values from 7 to 8. Water with pH within 6.5 - 8.5 is quite satisfactory for trout, but pH values lower

than 4.5 and higher than 9 are lethal for trout (Kocer and Sevgili, 2014). The toxic effect of pH is increased with different content of ions of calcium, sodium and chlorine in water (Ekubo and Abowei, 2011). The presence of hydroxide ions in the water reduces the resistance of trout to low pH values. If the pH value is below 7, the ion concentration above 1.5 mg/l results in the death of trout (Boyd, 2017). In general, the growth rate of trout in acid waters is lower than in alkaline, and at constant pH within its optimum values the growth rate is higher than at varying pH values (Baldisserotto, 2011; Seanego *et al.*, 2023).

CHAPTER THREE

MATERIALS AND METHODS

3.1 Study area

This study was carried out along the River Sagana and collected fish taken to Kiganjo national trout hatchery for experiments. River Sagana is a second order stream flowing from Mt. Kenya (Figure 2). The Sampling stations are labelled as S1, S2 and S3 for River Sagana. The stream originates from the South-eastern slopes of Mt. Kenya at an altitude of approximately 4000 m above sea level. The catchment stretches from latitude 0°13'S to 0°22'S to longitude 37°16'E to 37°03'E draining a watershed area of approximately 2256 km² (Ngugi and Green, 2000).



Figure 2: Location of Sagana second order stream flowing from South eastern slopes of Mt. Kenya showing the study site as S1-S3.

Kiganjo trout hatchery situated on R. Sagana was established as a River Research and Development Centre in the year 1948 (Van Someren, 1952). The station is currently mandated to develop standards and certification of fish seeds, feeds, brood stock and other cold-water fisheries products for distribution to trout fish farmers; carry out research related to cold water fisheries and to provide technical information on cold water aquaculture.

3.2 Study design

3.2.1 Fish collection

The study was conducted from March to December 2021 covering the wet and dry seasons, where wild fish were collected from T1, T2 and T3 sites along River Sagana (Figure 1). The fishing sessions were carried out using gillnets to capture breeders in the pools or riffles and the runs, where the presence of adult specimens was noted. A total of 220 fish were collected, which included 104 males and 116 females. Fish collection was done from 6 am to 11 am for the first half of February 2021. Fish were maintained in breeding ponds in Kiganjo trout hatchery, until the spawning phase. After ovulation and spawning, which were performed once, breeders were released back to the breeders' ponds no later than 24 h after their reproductive management. In some cases, fish were kept for several days in the hatchery ponds, to enable the conclusion of their maturation process and to proceed with the spawning activity.

3.2.2 Hatchery management of broodstock and artificial fertilization

Fish were monitored on a weekly basis for correct detection of ovulation and spermiation, before performing the spawning process. Females were palpated weekly to assess the distended abdomen in gravid breeders for timely detection of ovulation to ensure optimum egg quality during each spawning session. Prior to stripping, females and males were anesthetized during 2–3 min with a 40 ppm of benzocaine solution. The eggs of each female were collected in individual bowls. When egg batches presented impurities such as blood, broken eggs, and traces of yolk, the ovarian fluid was drained over a strainer to be washed using a 0.8% saline solution. Subsequently, they were returned to their bowl and the eliminated fluid was replaced by Billard's sperm diluent (Suquet *et al.*, 2000) before being fertilized.

Males were selected when milt had an appropriate external feature (intense white colour) and texture (semi-creamy and homogeneous). Fertilization was performed with 3 ml doses of pooled semen obtained from three to four males. This number of males was used in each spawning session, which ranged from five to seven during each reproductive season. It should be mentioned that all males were spawned only once; they were not reused in successive spawning sessions and were from the same origin as females. After fertilization, the eggs were rinsed several times with incubation water to remove sperm remnants and then left for 15 min to facilitate egg hardening. The eggs of each female were individually incubated to allow traceability of reproductive variables (Figure 2). The incubation process was performed in fiberglass punts with a spring water supply at a temperature of between 7°C and 8°C and a constant flow of 20 L/min.

A wet method of fertilization was used in this trial; where fertilization is allowed to occur in an environment that is moist. The fertilized ova were placed in incubation trays within the incubation troughs. Silt free clear cold-water flows through the troughs at a flow rate of 5 L/sec and is maintained throughout the incubation period.

The fish were held in a brooder pond, removed when ripe, and stripped. For the male, milt was collected from ripe males and eggs stripped from females. Once fertilization occurred, the eggs become fertilized ova ready for growth and maturation. Trout eggs were incubated until the "eyed" stage was reached, in hatching troughs, hatching and rearing troughs were 40-50 cm wide, 20 cm deep, and up to about 4 m in length. Two layers of eggs were placed in screened trays supported 5 cm above the bottom, and water passes through the tray (3-4 L/min). As the eggs hatched in approximately 4-14 weeks, the fry dropped through the mesh to a bottom trough. The time taken for hatching varied depending on water temperature, taking 100 days at 3.9°C and 21 days at 14.4°C (about 370-degree days). The dead (white) eggs were removed regularly to limit bacterial and fungal infections. Fungal infections were controlled using formalin (37 percent solution of formaldehyde) in the inflow water at 1:600 dilutions for 15 minutes daily, but not within 24 hours of hatching. After hatching, the trays were removed and the trough water depth kept shallow (8-10 cm) with a reduced flow until fry reached the 'swim-up' stage, the yolk sac absorbed, and active food searching began.



Figure 3: Experimental process of the breeding-wild with wild, wild with hatchery and hatchery with hatchery

3.3.3 Rearing of fry

Once the ova hatched to free-swimming fry, live feeds (daphnia; which is zooplankton) were offered to wean the juvenile fries for a period of two weeks after which formulated feed 50% protein was offered to the fry at a daily ration of 7% of the body weight. Survival for the ova, alevins, and free-swimming fry was recorded as growth performance progressed (Appendices). The feed pellets, made of fish meal (80 percent), fish oils, and grains, provide nutritional balance, encouraging growth and product quality, and were formulated to contain approximately 50 percent protein, 12-15 percent fat, vitamins (A, D and E), minerals (calcium, phosphorus, and sodium) and a pigment to achieve pink flesh (where desirable). When the fry was 15-25 mm long feeding commenced based on published charts, related to temperature and fish size. As growth continued, dissolved oxygen was monitored and fish moved to larger tanks to reduce density, as the fries grew to fingerlings.

3.4 Analytical techniques

3.4.1 Length-weight relationships

Length -weight relationship (LWR): the relationship between length and weight of fish was analysed by measuring fork length and wet weight of fish samples collected for the study. The statistical relationship between these parameters used the parabolic equation $W = aL^b$ (Tsoumani *et al.*, 2006). The equation was used to estimate the relationship between the weight (g) of the fish and its total length (cm). This equation was when converted into the logarithmic form gives a straight-line relationship graphically log-transformed to the equation: log (W) = log a + b log (L) (Morato *et al.*, 2001).Using the linear regression, parameters a and b were calculated with 'a' representing the intercept and 'b' the slope of the relationship.

In order to establish LWRs with respect to periodic variations that can affect b, fish were grouped according to the period when they were caught. If no effect was detected at the larger period classification, then b was assessed and interpreted by individual season. When applying this formula on sampled fish, b may deviate from the "ideal value" of 3 that represents an isometric growth because of certain environmental circumstances or the condition of the fish themselves. When b is less than 3, fish become slimmer with increasing length, and growth will be negatively allometric. When b is greater than 3.0, fish become heavier showing a positive allometric growth and reflecting optimum conditions for growth (Casselman, 1990).

3.4.2 Fulton's condition factor (K)

The relationship between length and weight for mean samples were used to calculate Fulton's Condition Factor Index (K) estimated using the equation $CF=(W/L^3) \times 100$

(Nash *et al.*, 2006). Condition Factor Index was established to assess the condition of the fish under study. Good growth condition of the fish is deduced when K > 1, while the fish is in poor growth condition compared to an average individual with the same length when K < 1 (Sutton *et al.*, 2000). It should be noted that the stomachs of fish were not emptied before weighing.

3.4.3 Biometry and reproductive traits

Bodyweight (g), total body length (cm), and condition factor (K) of each fish were recorded prior to gamete collection. At 100 Accumulated Thermal Units (ATUs) of incubation, a sample of 50 eggs treated with a 20% acetic acid solution was taken from each incubation to record the fertilization rate (%). Total fecundity (number of eggs/female) and relative fecundity (number of eggs/kg of female) were also recorded. At 200 ATUs, eyed egg survival (%) was determined in each incubation by subjecting eggs to a shock process to induce the mortality of the weak and infertile eggs. In contrast, viable eggs were shiny orange and translucent, with visible pigmented eyes. The sum of live and dead egg represented total fecundity per female. Fecundity and egg survival were quantified gravimetrically by weighing a sample of 500 eggs obtained from a counting paddle, on a digital balance, to determine the mean egg weight of each female. Then, the mean egg weight was used to estimate the total egg number, by dividing the total egg weight recorded in each female by the mean egg weight value. Mean egg diameter (mm) was obtained by determining the number of eggs arranged on a 300 mm ruler, and then dividing the ruler length by the number of resulting eggs.
3.5 Statistical analyses

Statistical analysis was conducted by pooling the biometric and reproductive data of breeders which, based on their common spawning period, were considered as a single stock. This criterion agrees with data available on the variation in spawning timing observed in different strains of rainbow trout, which usually associate in a given spawning period pattern with a specific strain (Bromage *et al.*, 1992). The author performed all statistical analyses using the MINITAB version 18 program (Ryan *et al.*, 2012). Prior to statistical analysis, the variables were analysed for conformance to assumptions regarding normal distribution and homogeneity of variance using the Kolmogorov–Smirnov (K-S) and Levene's tests, respectively (Das and Imon, 2016).

To investigate the LWRs data, ANOVA was used to evaluate the statistical significance of the regression model detected at P < 0.05. To verify if b was significantly different from the predictions assigned for isometric growth (b = 3), student two sample t-test comparison was performed. While a statistically significant difference of b from 3 implies an allometric growth either positive or negative, an isometric growth is assigned when b is not statistically different from 3 (Froese, 2006). Statistical differences in b value between periods and among seasons were tested using a one-way ANOVA with P significant at < 0.05. The biometric characteristics between wild and hatchery-reared fish were compared using the Student's two sample t-test for independent samples, evaluating the statistical significance through bootstrapping with 1000 sub-sample with replacement.

Reproductive traits were modelled as a function of female breeder traits using general linear mixed models (GLMMs) (Krueger and Tian, 2004). The statistical tool was

used to explore the relationships between female reproductive traits and other breeder traits (length, weight and fecundity) in order to identify all the potential combinations that could be linked to specific female reproductive traits, such as total fecundity, relative fecundity, egg diameter, fertilization rate, and eyed egg survival. Considering the fact that all fish in a year may not be independent as they have experienced similar conditions leading up to spawning, a null hypothesis that the spawning time was a random factor was tested using the Wald Z-test (Gjedrem *et al.*, 2009).

Regression models were fitted to all independent variable combinations of biometric and reproductive traits. The absence of multicollinearity between independent variables was also verified through the Variation Inflation Factor (VIF), based on the tolerance value of each variable, according to the formula VIF = 1/tolerance. When the value of the VIF was more than 5, multicollinearity was considered serious and the variable was eliminated from the analysis (Shrestha, 2020).

For this analysis, the following relationships were modelled: (a) Total fecundity (dependent variable) with the independent variables: body weight, body length, condition factor, spawning time, egg weight, and egg diameter, (b) Relative fecundity (dependent variable) with the independent variables: body weight, body length, condition factor, spawning time, egg weight and egg diameter, (c) Egg diameter (dependent variable) with the independent variables: body weight, body length, condition factor, spawning time and egg weight, (d) Fertilization rate (dependent variable) with the independent variables: body length, condition factor, spawning time and egg weight, body length, condition factor, spawning time and egg weight, body length, condition factor, spawning time, egg diameter, total fecundity, and relative fecundity, (e) Eyed egg survival (dependent variable) with the independent variable) with the independent variable) with the independent variables.

body length, condition factor, spawning time, egg weight, egg diameter, total fecundity, relative fecundity, and fertilization rate. Total fecundity (TF, No. of eggs/female), relative fecundity (RF, No. of eggs/kg female), fertilization rate (FR, %), egg diameter (ED, mm), and eyed egg survival (EES, %) were modelled as a function of biometric and reproductive parameters, using general linear mixed models. In the analysis, models were run using non-transformed variables.

CHAPTER FOUR

DATA ANALYSIS, PRESENTATION AND INTERPRETATION

4.1 Water quality parameters

The mean water temperature in April was $9.58 \pm 0.31^{\circ}$ C, Dissolved Oxygen was recorded at a mean of 10.58 ± 0.39 mg/L while the water pH was 7.35 ± 0.40 . The highest temperature recorded was in September at a maximum of 12.70° C and the lowest was in June at 8.39° C (Table 2). These water variables were, however, within the expected range for trout egg and fry development in a hatchery.

Table 2: The mean, minimum and maximum water parameters recorded in the hatchery from April to September

April 2021				
Variable	Mean	StDev	Minimum	Maximum
Temperature ⁰ C	9.58	0.31	9.01	10.11
D.O. mg/L	10.58	0.39	10.12	11.57
рН	7.35	0.40	6.66	8.05
May 2021				
Variable	Mean	StDev	Minimum	Maximum
Temperature	10.77	0.90	9.19	12.93
D.O. mg/L	10.15	0.59	8.69	10.92
рН	7.54	0.38	6.98	8.38
June 2021				
Variable	Mean	StDev	Minimum	Maximum
Temperature	9.72	0.55	8.39	10.65
D.O. mg/L	10.42	0.58	9.19	11.54
рН	7.48	0.34	6.89	8.16
July 2021				
Variable	Mean	StDev	Minimum	Maximum
Temperature	9.51	0.42	8.80	10.60
D.O. mg/L	10.85	0.46	9.99	11.71
pH	7.56	0.34	6.97	8.03
August 2021				
Variable	Mean	StDev	Minimum	Maximum
Temperature	10.85	0.64	10.00	12.20
D.O. mg/L	10.39	0.51	9.10	11.61
pH	7.52	0.38	6.73	7.99
September 2021				
Variable	Mean	StDev	Minimum	Maximum
Temperature	11.64	0.61	10.10	12.70
D.O. mg/L	9.60	0.57	8.69	10.73
рН	7.50	0.31	6.97	7.99

4.2 Biometric parameters of hatchery and wild rainbow trout brooders

During this study, measured biometric parameters for brooders of naturalized rainbow trout population from River Sagana, registered during the sampling seasons are shown in Table 3 while the statistical differences among these attributes are shown in Table 5. Significantly higher (P < 0.05) body weight, fork length, condition factor was recored in male and female wild × hatchery reared fish. Consistent with egg diameter is the egg weight which showed concomitant significant differences among the fish in the three cohorts. Eyed egg survival, was lowest among the wild fish but showed no significant differences between the hatchery and cross between wild and hatchery traits

Biometric parameters	Wild fish stock (Mean ± SD)	Hatchery reared (Mean ± SD)	Wild × Hatchery reared (Mean ± SD)
Female body weight (g)	0.52 ± 0.04^{a} (n = 18)	$0.91 \pm 0.11^{b} (n = 15)$	$1.02 \pm 0.15^{\circ} (n = 12)$
Female Fork length (m)	$0.31 \pm 0.04^{a} (n = 16)$	$0.45 \pm 0.13^{b} (n = 13)$	$0.46 \pm 0.12^{b} (n = 18)$
Female condition factor (k)	1.2 ± 0.04^{a} (n = 16)	$1.4 \pm 0.04^{b} (n=12)$	$1.4 \pm 0.04^{b} (n = 12)$
Male body weight (g)	$0.41 \pm 0.02^{a} (n = 15)$	$0.40 \pm 0.04^{b} (n = 15)$	$0.48 \pm 0.04^{\circ}$ (n = 12)
Male body length (cm)	$0.28 \pm 0.04^{a} (n = 12)$	$0.40 \pm 0.10^{b} (n = 13)$	0.43 ± 0.11^{b} (n = 18)
Male condition factor (k)	$1.1 \pm 0.04^{a} (n = 12)$	$1.2\pm 0.04^{b}(n=12)$	$1.2\pm 0.04^{b}(n=12)$

Table 3: Biometric parameters for breeders of a naturalized rainbow trout population from River Sagana. In parenthesis, the sample size (n) is indicated

Table 4: Paired comparisons t-tests for biometric differences among female and male breeders of a naturalized rainbow trout population from River Sagana, recorded during three reproductive seasons. n=sample size

Reproductive parameters	Wild fish stock (Mean ± SD)	Hatchery reared (Mean ± SD)	Wild × Hatchery reared (Mean ± SD)
Body weight (g)	n = 30	n = 28	n = 30
	Trend = F > M	Trend = F > M	Trend = F > M
	t-statistics = -17.89	t-statistics = -5.81	t-statistics = -3.02
	P < 0.0001	P < 0.001	P < 0.05
Body length (g)	n = 30	n = 28	n = 30
	Trend = F > M	Trend = $F > M$	Trend = F > M
	t-statistics = -4.21	t-statistics = -5.32	t-statistics = -3.42
	P < 0.0001	<i>P</i> < 0.001	P < 0.05
Condition factor	n = 30	n = 28	n = 30
	Trend = F > M	Trend = $F > M$	Trend = F = M
	t-statistics $= -13.89$	t-statistics = -4.51	t-statistics = -1.04
	<i>P</i> < 0.0001	<i>P</i> < 0.001	<i>P</i> > 0.05 (NS)

4.3 Length weight relationships in fish species reared under different conditions

The LWR was calculated by transforming the real data to the linear equation (log Wt = log a + b log TL). The value of a = -1.843 (wild fish), -2.159(hatchery-reared), -2.573(wild-hatchery) and b = 2.900(wild fish), 3.029 (hatchery-reared), 3.175 (wild-hatchery) were better fitted at r² = 0.95(wild fish), 0.95(hatchery-reared), 0.96(wild-hatchery) respectively as indicated in Table 5.

Table 5: Regression equations of rainbow trout from hatchery-reared, wild and crossed fish showing relationships between log weight (g) and log total length (cm)

Rainbow trout Trait	a	b	r^2	F	Р
Hatchery-reared	-1.843	2.900	0.950	1799.22	0.000
Wild (from Sagana stream)	-2.159	3.029	0.953	1942.50	0.000
Wild \times Hatchery-reared	-2.573	3.175	0.964	2556.94	0.000

These values were then transformed into parabolic form and the equations obtained were W = $0.0144L^{2.900}$, W = $0.0069L^{3.0285}$ and W = $0.00027L^{3.175}$ respectively (Figure 4). The graphs of the linear equation of *O. mykiss* are shown in Figure 4. The value of **a** in all shows positive allometric growth. All the **b** values were almost 3, indicating that *O. mykiss* has an isometric form of growth in weight. Furthermore, the r² value of LWR of *O. mykiss* was relatively high indicating a strong relationship between the length and weight for the three groups. The general parabolic equation is Y = a + bXand the Regression equations for LLR were as follows: SL = 1.106 TL + 1.667, CFL = 1.059 TL + 0.815 and CFL = 0.903 SL + 0.363. Results for LLR indicated that the value of correlation coefficient (r²) were highly correlated, r² > 0.9 at *P* < 0.05. The value for the correlation coefficient (r²) were 0.950, 0.953, and 0.964 respectively and are shown in Figure 5.



Figure 4: The length-weight relationship among rainbow trout under different breeding conditions



Figure 5: Log-transformed length-weight relationship among traits under different breeding conditions

4.3 Reproductive traits among hatchery, wild, and crossed rainbow trout

The reproductive traits between the hatchery and wild rainbow trout brooders are shown in Table 6. Total fecundity of the broodstock differs significantly between the wild strain, hatchery reared, and the cross between hatchery and wild stock (One-Way ANOVA; F = 8.934, df = 2, P = 0.0045). Moreover, the fecundity of the broodstock was consistent with the average weight of the brooders where the cross between the wild and hatchery-reared fish provided superior performance. Meanwhile, Relative fecundity was significantly different among the three groups of fish (One-Way ANOVA; F = 6.134, df = 2, P = 0.0217) but the differences between the hatchery and cross strain of wild and hatchery fish showed no significant differences. The fertilization rate showed significant differences among fish in the three experimental groups (One-Way ANOVA; F = 10.136, df = 2, P = 0.0057), with no discernible difference observed between the hatchery and cross strain of wild and hatchery fish. Meanwhile, egg diameter showed consistent significant differences among fish in the three experimental fish groups (One-Way ANOVA; F = 23.338, df = 2, P = 0.0005). Table 2 below shows the mean and standard deviation of the reproductive parameters of the three population of fish. The fertilization rate differed for the three population with wild spawned fish having the lowest fertilization rate. Survival rate was lowest on wild spawning fish and highest on crossed spawned fish between wild and hatchery brooders.

Table 6: Reproductive parameters for female breeders of naturalized wild and hatchery reared rainbow trout populations during sampling period in 2021. In parenthesis, the sample size (n) is indicated

Reproductive	Wild fish stock	Hatchery-reared	Wild × Hatchery-
parameters	(Mean ± SD)	(Mean ± SD)	reared (Mean \pm SD)
Total fecundity (No. of	2134 ± 335^{a} (n = 42)	$3245 \pm 234^{b} (n = 45)$	$3745 \pm 316^{\circ} (n = 40)$
eggs/female)			
Relative fecundity (No	$6275 \pm 876^{a} (n = 42)$	$7211 \pm 925^{b} (n = 45)$	$7201{\pm}1005^{b}(n=40)$
of eggs per/kg female)			
Fertilization rate (%)	$82.2 \pm 6.7^{a} (n = 42)$	$93.4 \pm 4.5^{b}(n=45)$	$94.9 \pm 4.1^{\rm b}(n=40)$
Egg diameter (mm)	5.1 ± 0.13^{a} (n = 24)	$5.6\pm 0.12^{b}(n=20)$	$5.9\pm 0.14^{\rm c}(n=25)$
Egg weight (mg)	$74.2 \pm 3.4^{a} \ (n=24)$	$81.3 \pm 3.1^{\rm b}~(n=20)$	$88.4 \pm 2.7^{\circ} (n = 25)$
Survival of fry (%)	61.4 ± 10.2	84.5 ± 5.6	86.7 ± 5.9
Eyed egg survival, EES	$78.3\pm5.6^{\rm a}$	87.4 ± 7.8^{b}	87.1 ± 6.4^{b}
(%)			

4.4 Relationships between biometric and reproductive parameters of hatchery and wild trout brooders

Coefficients for the regression of total fecundity, relative fecundity, egg diameter and eyed egg survival on reproductive variables for the naturalized rainbow trout of River Sagana are shown in Table 6. The variance component for the spawning year was low, accounting for only between 0.34% and 14.82% of the total variance; therefore, this factor did not represent a significant effect (Wald Z-test: P = 0.37) to be considered a random factor in the GLMM analysis. Thus, the models were fitted considering a sample size of the full data set (n = 133). There was an absence of multicollinearity between the independent variables given that the VIF was below 5 (VIF range = 1.01-1.33). Thus, this factor did not affect model estimations.

TF showed a significant positive correlation with FBW and a significant negative correlation with EW (intercept = 2579. 69; FBW slope = 1.46, t-test: t = 12.19, df =

56.95, P < 0.001; EW slope = -26.44, t-test: t = -7.47, df = 111.82, P < 0.001) (Table 6 and Fig. 3). FBL and EW were significantly negatively associated with RF (intercept = 4667. 66; FBL slope = -32.25, t-test: t = -4.82, df = 117, P < 0.001; EW slope = -14.72, t-test: t = -7.04, df = 117, P < 0.001) (Table 7). Models with ED as a response variable ranked highest.

Dependent Slope (1st Slope (2nd **P-value** Intercept **P-value P**-value variable variable) variable) Total fecundity 2001 < 0.0001 1.37 < 0.0001 -26.3 < 0.0001 < 0.0001 Relative 4275 < 0.0001 -27.5 < 0.0001 -16.5 fecundity < 0.0001 Egg diameter 4.2 < 0.0001 0.02 1.12 < 0.0001Egg survival 56.3 < 0.0001 0.44 0.002 -0.02 0.012

Table 7: Coefficients for the regression of total fecundity, relative fecundity, egg diameter and eyed egg survival on reproductive variables for the naturalized rainbow trout of River Sagana.

Bivariate linear regression between total fecundity and female body weight in wild, hatchery reared and naturalized rainbow trout from River Sagana is provided in Figure 6. Regression lines (solid line) fitted by ordinary least-squares are shown. There was significant (P < 0.05) positive correlation between total fecundity and female body weight for only the wild × hatchery naturalized population, such correlations were not significant (P > 0.05) for the wild fish as well as hatchery reared fish. The total number of eggs spawned was not significantly (P > 0.05) affected by female body weight for the hatchery reared fish.



Figure 6: Bivariate linear regression between Total fecundity (No. of eggs/female) against female body weight in (a) wild population, (b) hatchery reared population and (c) wild × hatchery reared population of rainbow trout in River Sagana

Simple linear regression between total fecundity and egg weight in wild, hatchery reared and naturalized rainbow trout from River Sagana is provided in Figure 7. Regression lines (solid line) fitted by ordinary least-squares are shown. There was a negative significant correlation between total fecundity and egg weight in wild fish while for the wild × hatchery naturalized population the relationship was positive and significant (P < 0.05). The total number of eggs spawned was not significantly (P > 0.05) affected by egg weight for the hatchery reared fish.



Figure 7: Bivariate linear regression between Total fecundity (No. of eggs/female) against egg weight (g) in (a) wild population, (b) hatchery reared population and (c) wild \times hatchery reared population of rainbow trout in River Sagana

Bivariate linear regression between relative fecundity and body weight in wild, hatchery reared and naturalized rainbow trout from River Sagana are shown in Figure 8. Regression lines fitted by ordinary least-squares are shown. There were significant (P < 0.05) positive correlations between relative fecundity and female body weight for the hatchery reared and wild × hatchery naturalized population.



Figure 8. Bivariate linear regression between Relative fecundity (No. of eggs/kg fish) against female body weight and egg weight (g) in (a) wild population, (b) hatchery reared population and (c) wild \times hatchery reared population of rainbow trout in Sagana

Bivariate linear regression between relative fecundity and egg weight in wild, hatchery reared and naturalized rainbow trout from River Sagana are shown in Figure 9. Regression lines fitted by ordinary least-squares are shown, Relative fecundity was also positively correlated with egg weight in hatchery reared and wild \times hatchery naturalized rainbow trout fish (P < 0.05).



Figure 9: Bivariate linear regression between Relative fecundity (No. of eggs/kg fish) against egg weight (g) in (a) wild population, (b) hatchery reared population and (c) wild \times hatchery reared population of rainbow trout in Sagana

Bivariate linear regression between LN (eyed egg survival (%) and fertilization rates in wild, hatchery reared and naturalized rainbow trout from River Sagana are shown in Figure 10. Regression lines fitted by ordinary least-squares are shown. Survival of the eyed eggs was significantly affected positively by fertilization rates in the hatchery raised and wild \times hatchery naturalized rainbow trout but not in the wild stock.



Figure 10. Bivariate linear regression between LN of eyed egg survival (%) against fertilization rates (%) in (a) wild population, (b) hatchery reared population and (c) wild × hatchery reared population of rainbow trout in Sagana. Eyed egg survival data was log-transformed based on the equation y = LN(y/(100-y)). Regression lines fitted by ordinary least-squares are shown.

Bivariate linear regression between LN (eyed egg survival (%) and relative fecundity (No. of eggs/kg fish) in wild, hatchery reared and naturalized rainbow trout from River Sagana are shown in Figure 11. Regression lines fitted by ordinary least-squares are shown. Survival of the eyed eggs was significantly (P < 0.05) affected positively by number of eggs in the hatchery raised and wild \times hatchery naturalized rainbow trout but not in the wild stock.



Figure 11. Bivariate linear regression between LN of eyed egg survival (%) against fertilization rates (%) in (a) wild population, (b) hatchery reared population and (c) wild × hatchery reared population of rainbow trout in Sagana. Eyed egg survival data was log-transformed based on the equation y = LN(y/(100-y)). Regression lines fitted by ordinary least-squares are shown.

CHAPTER FIVE

SUMMARY OF FINDINGS, CONCLUSIONS AND RECOMMENDATIONS 5.1 Summary of findings

During this study, the water variations were observed where water temperature in April was $9.58 \pm 0.31^{\circ}$ C, Dissolved Oxygen was recorded at a mean of 10.58 ± 0.39 mg/L while the water pH was 7.35 ± 0.40 . The highest temperature recorded was in September at a maximum of 12.70° C and the lowest was in June at 8.39° C due to seasonal variations within the study regions. The region experience highland equitorial climate where seasons occur due to titlting angle of the earth either southward (in March) or northwards (September) causing slight variations in temperature over the area (Williams and Pollard, 2003). Variation in the climate likely to cause changes in dissolved oxygen levels within the water in the region. However, water quality variations were not in ranges that affected the growth of trout (MacIntyre *et al.*, 2008; Person-Le Ruyet *et al.*, 2008).

During the stury, significantly higher (P < 0.05) body weight, fork length, condition factor was recored in male and female wild × hatchery reared fish. This may suggest that wild × hatchery raised fish grew better. It is widely believed that the goals of breeding or breeding programmes is yo allow selection of the most essential traits which determines the direction and extent of genetic trends in the population under selective breeding (D'Ambrosio *et al.*, 2020). These traits can be developeeed over a period of time when the conditions are ideal for such developments. Therefore, pending further investigations, there is tendency of wild × hatchery reared fish to develop genetic structure thatallows them to have better biometric parameters. The better growth of wild × hatchery reared fish was confirmed using the LWRs where they were found to exhibit positive allometric growth (b > 3.0) were established and their coefficient of determination r^2 values varied between 0.950 and 0.964. This high coefficient of determination values obtained in the assessment of LWRs indicates a good quality of the prediction of linear regression for the analysed fish. A significant correlation (P < 0.05) was observed for all tested samples. The negative allometric growth deduced for wild analysed fish (b < 3, t-test, P < 0.05) suggested that trout has a relatively low growth rate and tend to be slim. With b fluctuating between 2.900 and 3.175, positive allometry was detected for the hatchery raised fish.

In determing the reproductive performance of the fish using battery of measures, several observations were made. Fecundity also referred to as total or absolute fecundity is concerned with total number of oocytes possibly laid by an individual brood fish during its breeding period (Ganias and Lowerre - Barbieri, 2018). Meanwhile relative fecundity is the number of mature oocytes in a female divided by the total weight of that female (Armstrong and Witthames, 2012). The egg productivity of rainbow trout in hatcheries has so far received far little attention in commercial breeding programmes because its high relative fecundity (1500 to 2000 eggs/kg of body weight) (D'Ambrosio *et al.*, 2020). In this study, total and relative fecundity significantly varied due to differences in female body weight and egg weight. This trend indicates that the population analysed fits well to the general reproductive trade-off pattern between egg number and fish size described for the species. The total fecundity and relative fecundity fall within the range of, or were close to, data reported from other tropical riverine environments (Bromage *et al.*,

1992; Bazaz *et al.*, 2022; Nevoux *et al.*, 2022b). However, regression equations output suggests that the reproductive performance of the River Sagana population has a more reduced fecundity in comparison either with naturalized populations or with cultured stocks of trout species.

In this study, total and relative fecundity was largely affected by female body weight in the naturalized population, but not in the wild fish population. Total fecundity increased with increasing body size of female broodstock is a common phenomenon in Nile tilapia, *Oreochromis niloticus* (Duponchelle and Legendre, 2000; Shoko *et al.*, 2015; Wagaw *et al.*, 2022), and has been reported in other species such as river catfish (*Clupisoma garua*), Gagora catfish (Arifur *et al.*, 2020), Manyas shemaya, *Alburnus carinatus* (Gülşah and Gaygusuz, 2020), and grey mullet *Liza parsia* (Rheman *et al.*, 2002), *Puntius ticto* (Ticto, 2012) among others. This has also been reported in species of trouts (Alp *et al.*, 2003) including rainbow trout (Chandra *et al.*, 2018; Cakmak *et al.*, 2019; Yousuf and Razak, 2022). Nevertheless, negative relative fecundity has also been reported with respect to body mass for the wild anadromous brown trout *Salmo trutta* (Rinaldo, 2020).

The fundamental fecundity-weight relationship for could not explain the link between fecundity (total and relative) and body weight in wild trout population in the current study. Presence of varying selective pressures in the wild (Hutchings and Ferguson, 1992; Knudsen *et al.*, 2003) may be one of the factors responsible for the distortion of fecundity-weight relationships which, suggest presence of negative environmental factors that may distort the reproductive performance of wild population of rainbow

trout. We observed massive human activities along the river ecotones and therefore their impacts on reproductive biology need further confirmation.

The total fecundity was also affected by egg weight in the naturalized population which agrees with studies in other fish species such as the pool barb, *Puntius sophore* (Kant et al., 2016), zig-zag eels, and Mastacembelus armatus (Rashid and Dobriyal, 2020). In many studies, the positive correlation between total fecundity and egg weight seems to be the rule, rather than the exception. A puzzling observation however was that the number of eggs spawned was negatively correlated with egg weight in wild fish populations. Then, the question is; why should increased fecundity result in reduced egg weight in wild fish populations? Firstly, it is speculated that if wild trout undergo ontogenetic habitat shifts in spawning habitat, then egg size may be affected or even decreased according to abiotic conditions (Winemiller and Rose, 1992; Armstrong and Nislow, 2006). In addition, studies have reported tradeoffs in some populations between fecundity and egg weight; where fish in some populations produced fewer but heavier eggs (Jonsson and Jonsson, 1999) and in others, females produced more eggs but of a smaller size (Lobon-Cervia et al., 1997; Nicola and Almodóvar, 2002; Jensen et al., 2019); Klemetsen et al. 2003; Olsen and Vøllestad 2003). The tradeoffs occur due to trout growth as a function of environmental conditions (Braun et al., 2013). Secondly, the reproductive strategy could shift from one strategy for small individuals to another strategy for large individuals (Nevoux et al., 2019), which support the idea that small individuals fish populations have low fecundity compared to their large conspecifics and will strive to gain higher fitness on numerous small eggs and favourable environmental conditions. In this study the hatchery-reared and naturalize hatchery × wild population appeared to invest on more

eggs wiled the wild population appeared to invest their energy on larger egg size rather than numbers which has higher chances of survival. This may be a phenotype-response to the environment caused by resource availability and homogeneity (Rinaldo, 2020), which may be supported by the idea that egg size in trouts is partly plastic and may develop in response to maternal growth or spawning habitat (Nevoux *et al.*, 2019).

This study revealed that the significant positive effect of fertilization rate and relative fecundity. The positive effect of fertilization rate on embryo survival is consistent with data available for cultured stocks of rainbow trout available at national trout farm (National trout hatchery annual report, 2020). However, the positive effect of relative fecundity on egg survival is an unexpected result, given that insignificant correlations between these variables have been found at least in cultured stocks of this species. This result suggests that rainbow trout females of River Sagana that yield large egg numbers have an increasing trend towards better egg viability. This reproduction pattern could be related to a particular reproduction strategy of the rainbow trout population in the River Sagana, to improve its viability in the habitat that is a characteristic of the riverine environment.

Egg diameter showed a positive relationship with egg weight, and also with body length and body weight, egg weight was measure using gravimetric method. Regression equation predicts that females with a body length of 40 cm and 50 cm, will present an egg size of 4.97 mm and 5.24 mm, respectively. The positive correlation between egg size and body length coincides with previous reports of other salmonids, such as brown trout (Estay *et al.*, 1994; Weber *et al.*, 2023a) where egg size typically increases with female size, in a strong and consistent relationship. In naturalized rainbow trout from the Great Lakes in North America a positive association between both female length and egg size has also been recorded (Johnston *et al.*, 2016). Therefore, this result is in accordance with observations reported for different salmonid species in which larger females usually produce larger eggs. Although egg size has been related to embryo survival, no consistent relationship has been found. In this case, the reproductive parameter was mostly affected by the combination of fertilization rate and relative fecundity, which ranked highest in the model. This result is consistent with available data indicating that more than egg size, egg content, such as lipid and essential fatty acid content, seems to play an important role in embryo survival, both showing an ontogenetic trend (Jonsson and Jonsson, 1999; Johnston *et al.*, 2016; Kant *et al.*, 2016; Källo *et al.*, 2022; Judycka *et al.*, 2023).

The survival of the eyed eggs was positively affected by female body weight and egg weight in the hatchery raised and wild \times hatchery naturalized rainbow trout since the eggs size in the hatchery was somewhat larger than egg size in the wild and naturally larger egg sizes can survive much longer (Leblanc *et al.*, 2023). The survival of the eyed eggs at higher body weight of the broodstock may be attributed to the maternal fitness which enable them to spawn healthier and larger eggs that survive much longer. In the wild survival of the eyed stage may be limited by their interactions with environmental cues which lower reproductive fitness (Alix *et al.*, 2020). Therefore egg survival appears to be controlled by female body weight and egg size. Models for egg size reveal that this variable is affected by egg weight and also by body length or body weight, all with positive correlations. This result concurs with observations

reported for other naturalized populations of rainbow trout, and with other salmonids, further supporting evidence that larger females of this species usually produce larger eggs than smaller females.

Most studies of interactions between captive-bred and wild fish have focused on hatchery populations stocked into areas containing native populations of the same species, particularly for the commonly artificially propagated species of the family Salmonidae (Bruce *et al.*, 2020; O'Sullivan *et al.*, 2020; Prunier *et al.*, 2022). The study found out that biometric traits vary as a function of sex and that there are various types of relationship trends that may explain the variation of reproductive traits across experimental units.

Fish length or weight is positively correlated with egg size and total fecundity, but relative fecundity showed an opposite trend. Results from this study support these expectations in all experimental units analyzed. The highest-ranking models for total fecundity included the predictor variable female body weight, with a positive effect, combined with egg weight with a negative effect. In the case of relative fecundity, top-ranking models included negative significant relationships with female body length along with egg weight. Thus, results in this study indicates that, in the River Sagana population of rainbow trout, there is a positive correlation between female body weight and total fecundity and an inverse association with relative fecundity as shown elsewhere (Dürranl, 2023).

Total fecundity increasing with body weight in naturalized females of rainbow trout is not an unexpected result, since this trend has been observed in several naturalized populations of the Northern Hemisphere (Estay et al., 2021; Dedual, 2023). This trend is also in accordance with data reported in cultured strains of rainbow trout (Dedual, 2023). This study indicates that under natural conditions, the introduced populations of rainbow trout from the River Sagana follow a general reproductive pattern. However, when using the regression equation obtained in this study analysis to calculate expected total and relative fecundity at specific body length and weight, including the egg weight. River Sagana population presents lower values for these reproductive parameters than other naturalized populations from the Northern Hemisphere. For example, females measuring 63.9 and 59.1 cm body length and with a mean egg weight of 63 mg, were reported relative fecundity values of 2195 and 2414, respectively (DuBois and Dubielzig, 2004). In contrast, this analysis indicates only 1680.0 and 1834.7 eggs/kg female, respectively, using the regression equation for relative fecundity. The same pattern is observed when the expected total fecundity as a function of female body weight is compared to the reproductive performance of cultured stocks. For example, it has been observed that a mean number of 3483 and 5530 eggs/female for individuals, respectively, with a bodyweight of 1720 g (mean egg weight = 64.4 mg) and 2784 g (Kanyılmaz et al., 2016). In this case, however, the regression equation indicates a reduction in the total fecundity, since numbers of 3382.9 and 5073.3 eggs/female are expected, respectively, based on the regression equation for total fecundity. This result suggests reduced fecundity in the naturalized rainbow trout of River Sagana in comparison with naturalized populations from the northern hemisphere or with cultured stocks of this species.

Based on early egg survival analysis of the River Sagana population, the author was able to estimate the level of embryo viability in a self-sustaining population of an introduced species. This data, collected under controlled conditions in a hatchery facility, has not been obtained for other naturalized rainbow trout populations in River Sagana. In the Northern Hemisphere, this approach has been applied to analyse survival at the hatching stage in pure and hybrid trout crosses of naturalized strains (Poulos, 2019).

Other reproductive parameters such as fertilization rate, egg diameter, egg weight, and eyed egg survival showed significant differences among fish in the three experimental groups, with wild traits having inferior traits while hatchery-raised and cross strain between wild and hatchery-raised fish showing somewhat similarity in their traits. Fingerlings from wild-hatchery fish had superior trait than those from wild-wild fish. These comparisons support the proposal that the River Sagana population has a higher survival performance at the early development than cultured stocks. Models relating eyed egg survival to reproductive traits indicate the effect of fertilization rate and relative fecundity, both with a positive effect on the response variable. Also, of interest was the significant positive effect of relative fecundity on egg survival. The result suggests that rainbow trout females in River Sagana yielding large egg numbers will have increasing egg viability.

The total fecundity parameter fell within the range reported for naturalized rainbow trout populations in other regions of the world (TF = 2170-3195) (Blanchfield et al., 2009). The study established that the total and relative fecundity of the broodstock was better for the fish where a cross was done between hatchery and wild rainbow trout. Hatchery-raised rainbow trout typically have a morphology that is quite distinct from their wild counterparts (Krueger and Tian, 2004; Kristensen *et al.*, 2019; Kurta

et al., 2023). However, some phenotypic traits associated with hatchery-raised genotypes and a captive-rearing environment can be lost following release into the wild (Miller *et al.*, 2004). It is likely that crossed fish between hatchery and wild fish acquiring superior reproductive traits is higher through consistent breeding programmes in the hatchery.

5.2 CONCLUSIONS

This study provides new information on how biometric and reproductive traits of rainbow trout are linked with fecundity and early life-history characteristics. Wild-hatchery spawned fingerlings shown more superior traits than hatchery-hatchery and wild-wild spawned fingerlings. Wild brooders have the lower fecundity, lower fish weight and lower egg weight compared to hatchery brooders, this is due to the low availability of food and the variations of conditions such as temperature and pH in the wild compared to hatchery.

This study provides new information on survival rate of fingerlings from brooders of different environmental origins and how seasonal changes have effect on breeding of trout.

5.3 **RECOMMENDATIONS**

5.3.1 The sustainability of trout fisheries

The study recommends the use of hatchery and wild crossed fish to support fry production for use in subsequent restocking of all trout streams in the country.

5.3.2 Suggestions for further research

This study found some gaps in areas such as estimating the survival of trout in the wild environment and whether fecundity variations are associated with egg weight.

REFERENCES

- Adekola, O., Gatonye, M. & Orina, P. (2022). Status and outlook for climate resilient aquaculture in Kenya: Stakeholders perspectives. *Case Studies in the Environment*, 6(1), 1544-1555.
- Ahmed, N. & Thompson, S. (2019). The blue dimensions of aquaculture: A global synthesis. *Science of the Total Environment*, 652(851-861.
- Alabaster, J.S. & Lloyd, R.S. (2013). Water quality criteria for freshwater fish. Elsevier.
- Alimova, A., Kakhramanov, B. & Safarova, F. (2023). Water quality indicators in high-density cage farming of trout: *BIO Web of Conferences*. EDP Sciences, pp. 04003.
- Alix, M., Kjesbu, O.S. & Anderson, K.C. (2020). From gametogenesis to spawning: How climate-driven warming affects teleost reproductive biology. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 97(3), 607-632.
- Aloo, P., Charo-Karisa, H., Munguti, J. & Nyonje, B. (2017). A review on the potential of aquaculture development in Kenya for poverty alleviation and food security. *African Journal of Food, Agriculture, Nutrition and Development*, 17(1), 11832-11847.
- Alp, A., Kara, C. & Büyükçapar, H. (2003). Reproductive biology of brown trout, Salmo trutta macrostigma Dumeril 1858, in a tributary of the Ceyhan River which flows into the eastern Mediterranean Sea. Journal of Applied Ichthyology, 19(6), 346-351.
- Anderson, J.H., Warheit, K.I., Craig, B.E., Seamons, T.R. & Haukenes, A.H. (2020).
 A review of hatchery reform science in Washington State. Washington
 Department of Fish and Wildlife Olympia, WA.

- Antonov, A., Kuzishchin, K. & Kostomarova, I. (2020). Findings of rainbow trout *Parasalmo mykiss* at Far East South: on the problem of species range in the Asian part of North Pacific, *Journal of Ichthyology*, 60(776-781.
- Arifur, R., Mohammad Amzad-Hossainm, Rahamat Ullah & Iqbal, M.M. (2020). Reproductive biology of Gagora catfish (*Arius gagora*) at Meghna river system, Kushiara River, Bangladesh. *International Journal of Aquatic Biology*, 8(6), 383-395.
- Arismendi, I., Penaluna, B., Gomez-Uchida, D., Di Prinzio, C., Rodríguez-Olarte, D., Carvajal-Vallejos, F.M. & Savaria, P. (2019). Trout and char of South America, *Trout and char of the world*, 279-311.
- Armstrong, J. & Nislow, K. (2006). Critical habitat during the transition from maternal provisioning in freshwater fish, with emphasis on Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) and brown trout (*Salmo trutta*), *Journal of Zoology*, 269(4), 403-413.
- Armstrong, M.J. & Witthames, P.R. (2012). Developments in understanding of fecundity of fish stocks in relation to egg production methods for estimating spawning stock biomass, *Fisheries Research*, 117(35-47.
- Aura, C.M., Mwarabu, R.L., Nyamweya, C.S., Owiti, H., Ongore, C.O., Guya, F., Musa, S., Owili, M., Macaria, S. & Abila, R.O. (2022). Exploring the potential of small water bodies as an integrative management tool for fisheries production, *Fisheries Management and Ecology*, 29(3), 254-268.
- Baldisserotto, B. (2011). Water pH and hardness affect growth of freshwater teleosts. *Brazilian Journal of Animal Science*, 40(1), 138-144.
- Barabe, R.M. (2021). Population estimate of wild Rainbow Trout in a remote stream of southern California. *California Fish and Wildlife Journal*, 107(21-32.

- Bazaz, A.I., Shah, T.H., Bhat, F.A., Ahmad, I., Altaf, M., Andleeb, S., Hafiz, Z., Shafi, B. & Shah, A. (2022). Assessment of spawning fecundity and its relationship with body parameters of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) and brown trout (*Salmo trutta fario*). *International Journal of Bio-resource* and Stress Management, 13(10), 1115-1123.
- Beirão, J., Boulais, M., Gallego, V., O'Brien, J.K., Peixoto, S., Robeck, T.R. & Cabrita, E. (2019). Sperm handling in aquatic animals for artificial reproduction. *Theriogenology*, 133(161-178.
- Bennett-Jones, L., Gnanalingam, G., Flack, B., Scott, N., Pritchard, D., Moller, H. & Hepburn, C. (2021). Translocation of black foot pāua (*Haliotis iris*) in a customary fishery management area: transformation from top-down management to Kaitiakitanga (local guardianship) of a cultural keystone. *Pacific Conservation Biology*, 27(4), 402-417.
- Borisenko, E., Pavlov, D. & Kuzishchin, K. (2022). Hydroacoustic Studies of the Migration of Anadromous Rainbow Trout *Parasalmo mykiss* (Salmonidae) in the Kvachina River (Western Kamchatka). *Journal of Ichthyology*, 62(6), 1149-1159.
- Bosch, J., Bielby, J., Martin-Beyer, B., Rincon, P., Correa-Araneda, F. & Boyero, L. (2019). Eradication of introduced fish allows successful recovery of a streamdwelling amphibian. *PloS One*, 14(4), e0216204.
- Boyd, C.E. (2017). General relationship between water quality and aquaculture performance in ponds, Fish diseases, Elsevier. pp. 147-166.
- Boyd, C.E. & Tucker, C.S. (2012). *Pond aquaculture water quality management*. Springer Science & Business Media.

- Boyd, C.E. & Tucker, C.S. (2014). Handbook for aquaculture water quality. Handbook for aquaculture water quality, 439.
- Braun, D.C., Patterson, D.A. & Reynolds, J.D. (2013). Maternal and environmental influences on egg size and juvenile life - history traits in Pacific salmon. *Ecology and Evolution*, 3(6), 1727-1740.
- Bromage, N., Jones, J., Randall, C., Thrush, M., Davies, B., Springate, J., Duston, J. & Barker, G. (1992). Broodstock management, fecundity, egg quality and the timing of egg production in the rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Aquaculture*, 100(1-3), 141-166.
- Bruce, S.A., Kutsumi, Y., Van Maaren, C. & Hare, M.P. (2020). Stocked fish introgression into wild brook trout populations depends on habitat. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, 149(4), 427-442.
- Brugere, C., Bansal, T., Kruijssen, F. & Williams, M. (2023). Humanizing aquaculture development: Putting social and human concerns at the center of future aquaculture development. *Journal of the World Aquaculture Society*, 54(2), 482-526.
- Bunt, C. & Jacobson, B. (2019). Rainbow Trout Migration and Use of a Nature Like Fishway at a Great Lakes Tributary. North American Journal of Fisheries Management, 39(3), 460-467.
- Butzge, A.J., Yoshinaga, T.T., Acosta, O.D.M., Fernandino, J.I., Sanches, E.A., Tabata, Y.A., de Oliveira, C., Takahashi, N.S. & Hattori, R.S. (2021). Early warming stress on rainbow trout juveniles impairs male reproduction but contrastingly elicits intergenerational thermotolerance. *Scientific Reports*, 11(1), 17053.

- Cakmak, E., Firidin, S., Duzgunes, Z.D. & Parlak, R. (2019). The age-dependent reproductive performance of 4th generation Black Sea Trout (*Salmo labrax* Pallas, 1814) Females. *Turkish Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 19(6), 496-502.
- Caldwell, C.A.& Hinshaw, J. (1994). Physiological and haematological responses in rainbow trout subjected to supplemental dissolved oxygen in fish culture. *Aquaculture*, 126(1-2), 183-193.
- Caldwell, T.J., Chandra, S., Feher, K., Simmons, J.B. & Hogan, Z. (2020). Ecosystem response to earlier ice break up date: Climate driven changes to water temperature, lake habitat specific production, and trout habitat and resource use. *Global Change Biology*, 26(10), 5475-5491.
- Cantin, A., Farineau, A., Bender, D.J. & Post, J.R. (2021). Predicting distribution, production, recreational fishing demand, and conservation concern of Indigenous rainbow trout populations based on landscape characteristics. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 78(8), 1096-1108.
- Casselman, J.M. (1990). Growth and relative size of calcified structures of fish. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, 119(4), 673-688.
- Chandra, S., Patiyal, R.S., Gupta, S.K. & Sarma, D. (2018). Study on age dependent breeding performance of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*, Walbaum, 1792). *Coldwater Fisheries Society of India*, 1(1), 125-128.
- Cheruiyot, J.K. & Adhiaya, M. (2023). Adoption of aquaculture technologies and management practices, challenges and productivity of fish-ponds in Kakamega County, Kenya. *Asian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Research*, 22(1), 25-36.

- Collins, S.F. & Baxter, C.V. (2020). Multiple lines of evidence reveal complex rainbow trout responses to stream habitat enhancements. *Freshwater Biology*, 65(11), 1962-1972.
- Copley, H. (1940). Trout in Kenya Colony: Part II—The Rainbow Trout. *The East* African Agricultural Journal, 5(6), 416-422.
- Coutinho De Lima, A., Royer, E. & Pastres, R. (2020). Dissolved oxygen consumption and intra-tank distribution of trout biomass, Aquaculture Europe 2020 Abstracts, European Aquaculture Society.
- Crichigno, S.A. & Cussac, V.E. (2019). Rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) adaptation to a warmer climate: the performance of an improved strain under farm conditions. *Aquaculture International*, 27(6), 1869-1882.
- Crichigno, S.A., Orellana, M., Larraza, R., Mirenna, G. & Cussac, V.E. (2021). Thermal effects in rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) F1 embryos (farmed female× wild thermal - resistant male). Journal of Fish Biology, 99(1), 197-205.
- D'Agaro, E., Gibertoni, P. & Esposito, S. (2022). Recent trends and economic aspects in the rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) sector. *Applied Sciences*, 12(17), 8773.
- D'Ambrosio, J., Morvezen, R., Brard-Fudulea, S., Bestin, A., Acin Perez, A., Guéméné, D., Poncet, C., Haffray, P., Dupont-Nivet, M. & Phocas, F. (2020).
 Genetic architecture and genomic selection of female reproduction traits in rainbow trout. *BMC genomics*, 21(1), 1-14.
- Das, K.R. & Imon, A. (2016). A brief review of tests for normality. *American Journal* of Theoretical and Applied Statistics, 5(1), 5-12.

- Dauwalter, D.C., Baker, M.A., Baker, S.M., Lee, R. & Walrath, J.D. (2022). Physical habitat complexity partially offsets the negative effect of Brook Trout on Yellowstone Cutthroat Trout in the peripheral Goose Creek subbasin. Western North American Naturalist, 82(4), 660-676.
- Davidson, J., Good, C., Barrows, F.T., Welsh, C., Kenney, P.B. & Summerfelt, S.T. (2013). Comparing the effects of feeding a grain-or a fish meal-based diet on water quality, waste production, and rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss* performance within low exchange water recirculating aquaculture systems. *Aquacultural Engineering*, 52(45-57.
- Dedual, M. (2023). Spawning runs of naturalised rainbow and brown trout from Lake Otamangakau, central North Island, New Zealand. New Zealand Journal of Marine and Freshwater Research, 57(1), 1-21.
- Dempsey, D.P., Reid, G.K., Lewis-McCrea, L., Balch, T., Cusack, R., Dumas, A. & Rensel, J. (2023). Estimating stocking weights for Atlantic salmon to grow to market size at novel aquaculture sites with extreme temperatures. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 10(1094-1021.
- Devaa, J. and Ramesh, U. (2021). Current status of rainbow trout in Western Ghats, Southern India: A fish diversity and water quality assessment study. *Indian Journal of Ecology*, 48(2), 549-557.
- Dieterman, D. & Mitro, M. (2019). Stream habitat needs for brook trout and brown trout in the Driftless Area: A look back at driftless area science to plan for resiliency in an uncertain future. Special Publication of the 11th Annual Driftless Symposium, La Crosse, Wisconsin, pp. 29-44.
- DuBois, R.B. & Dubielzig, R.R. (2004). Effect of hook type on mortality, trauma, and capture efficiency of wild stream trout caught by angling with spinners. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management*, 24(2), 609-616.
- Duponchelle, F. & Legendre, M. (2000). *Oreochromis niloticus* (Cichlidae) in Lake Ayame, Côte d'Ivoire: life history traits of a strongly diminished population. *Cybium*, 24(2), 161-172.
- Dürran^I, Ö. (2023). Do the length-weight relationships and condition factors of farmed rainbow trout, brook, and brown trout differ from their wild counterparts? *Aquatic Research*, 6(4), 253-259.
- Edsall, D.A. & Smith, C.E. (1990). Performance of rainbow trout and Snake River cutthroat trout reared in oxygen-supersaturated water. *Aquaculture*, 90(3-4), 251-259.
- Ekubo, A. & Abowei, J. (2011). Review of some water quality management principles in culture fisheries. *Research Journal of Applied Sciences, Engineering and Technology*, 3(12), 1342-1357.
- Estay, F., Díaz, N.F., Neira, R. & Fernandez, X. (1994). Analysis of reproductive performance of rainbow trout in a hatchery in Chile. *The progressive fish-culturist*, 56(4), 244-249.
- Estay, F.J., Colihueque, N. & Yáñez, M. (2021). Reproductive performance assessed during three spawning seasons in a naturalized rainbow trout population from southern Chile. *Fisheries Research*, 244(106107.
- FAO United Nations. (2022). The State of World Fisheries and Aquaculture 2022. FAO Rome, Italy.
- Farha, S.A., Binder, T.R., Bronte, C.R., Hayes, D.B., Janssen, J., Marsden, J.E., Riley,S.C. & Krueger, C.C. (2020). Evidence of spawning by lake trout *Salvelinus*

namaycush on substrates at the base of large boulders in northern Lake Huron. *Journal of Great Lakes Research*, 46(6), 1674-1688.

- Fast, D.E., Bosch, W.J., Johnston, M.V., Strom, C.R., Knudsen, C.M., Fritts, A.L., Temple, G.M., Pearsons, T.N., Larsen, D.A. & Dittman, A.H. (2015). A synthesis of findings from an integrated hatchery program after three generations of spawning in the natural environment. *North American Journal* of Aquaculture, 77(3), 377-395.
- Faulkner, K.T., Burness, A., Byrne, M.J., Kumschick, S., Peters, K., Robertson, M.P., Saccaggi, D.L., Weyl, O.& Williams, V.L. (2020). South Africa's pathways of introduction and dispersal and how they have changed over time. *Biological Invasions in South Africa*, 14(313-354.
- Fennell, J.M., Rosenthal, W.C., Wagner, C.E., Burckhardt, J.C. & Walters, A.W. (2023). Temporal segregation in spawning between native Yellowstone cutthroat trout and introduced rainbow trout. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish*, 32(1), 94-106.
- Ferguson, A. & Prodöhl, P.A. (2022). Identifying and conserving sympatric diversity in trout of the genus Salmo, with particular reference to Lough Melvin, Ireland. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish*, 31(2), 177-207.
- Fetherman, E.R. & Avila, B.W. (2022). Habitat associations of rainbow trout Oncorhynchus mykiss and brown trout Salmo trutta fry. Journal of Fish Biology, 100(1), 51-61.
- Flanagan, T.J. (2022). Recruitment, demographics, and growth of rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss* in two Tennessee Tailwaters, Tennessee Technological University.

- Frid, A. (2023). Book Review: Sullivan, NP (2022). The Blue Revolution: Hunting, Harvesting, and Farming Seafood in the Information Age. Island Press, Washington, DC. ISBN: 9,781,642,832,174. Price \$30.00 (Hardback). xvi+ 247 Pages, Index. *Human Ecology*, 51(3), 569-572.
- Froehlich, H.E., Couture, J., Falconer, L., Krause, G., Morris, J.A., Perez, M., Stentiford, G.D., Vehviläinen, H. & Halpern, B.S. (2021). Mind the gap between ICES nations' future seafood consumption and aquaculture production. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, 78(1), 468-477.
- Froese, R. (2006). Cube law, condition factor and weight–length relationships: history, meta analysis and recommendations. *Journal of applied ichthyology*, 22(4), 241-253.
- Galezan, F.H., Bayati, M.R., Safari, O. & Rohani, A. (2020). Evaluating the rearing condition of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) using fuzzy inference system. *Aquacultural Engineering*, 89(102051.
- Galloway, B.T., Muhlfeld, C.C., Guy, C.S., Downs, C.C. & Fredenberg, W.A. (2016). A framework for assessing the feasibility of native fish conservation translocations: applications to threatened Bull Trout. North American Journal of Fisheries Management, 36(4), 754-768.
- Ganias, K. & Lowerre Barbieri, S. (2018). Oocyte recruitment and fecundity type in fishes: Refining terms to reflect underlying processes and drivers. *Fish and Fisheries*, 19(3), 562-572.
- Garlock, T., Asche, F., Anderson, J., Ceballos-Concha, A., Love, D.C., Osmundsen, T.C. & Pincinato, R.B.M. (2022). Aquaculture: The missing contributor in the food security agenda. *Global Food Security*, 32(1006-1012.

- Gebremedhin, S., Bruneel, S., Getahun, A., Anteneh, W. & Goethals, P. (2021). Scientific methods to understand fish population dynamics and support sustainable fisheries management. *Water*, 13(4), 574-585.
- Gjedrem, T., Baranski, M., Gjedrem, T. & Baranski, M. (2009). The success of selective breeding in aquaculture. Selective Breeding in Aquaculture: An Introduction, 12(13-23.
- Graham, R.M., Kathleen R., L., Peter R. Leavitt, Stephen Maricle, Andrew Klassen & Cumming, B.F. (2019). Bottom-up forces drive increases in the abundance of large daphnids in four small lakes stocked with rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*), Interior British Columbia, Canada. *Ecosystems*, 23(873-890.
- Guan, W., Qiu, L., Zhang, B., Yao, J., Xiao, Q. & Qiu, G. (2019). Characterization and localization of cyclin B3 transcript in both oocyte and spermatocyte of the rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*), *PeerJ*, 7(e7396.
- Gülşah, S. & Gaygusuz, Ö. (2020). Relationships between body size, weight and fecundity of the endangered fish *Alburnus carinatus* Battalgil, 1941 in the Manyas Lake (Turkey). *Aquatic Sciences and Engineering*, 35(1), 27-30.
- Hansen, M.J., Guy, C.S., Budy, P. & McMahon, T.E. (2019). Trout as native and nonnative species: a management paradox. *Trout and Char of the World'. (Eds J. L Kershner, JE Williams, RE Gresswell, and J. Lobon-Cervia.)* pp: 645-684.
- Haq, K.R.A. & Harigovindan, V. (2022). Water quality prediction for smart aquaculture using hybrid deep learning models. *IEEE Access*, 10(60078-60098.
- Hasegawa, K. (2020). Invasions of rainbow trout and brown trout in Japan: A comparison of invasiveness and impact on native species. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish*, 29(3), 419-428.

- Healy, B.D., Schelly, R.C., Yackulic, C.B., Smith, E.C.O. & Budy, P. (2020).
 Remarkable response of native fishes to invasive trout suppression varies with trout density, temperature, and annual hydrology. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 77(9), 1446-1462.
- Hinrichsen, E., Walakira, J.K., Langi, S., Ibrahim, N.A., Tarus, V., Badmus, O. & Baumüller, H. (2022). Prospects for Aquaculture Development in Africa: A review of past performance to assess future potential. in: Prospects for aquaculture development in Africa: A review of past performance to assess future potential, Z.W.P.S., No. 211, University of Bonn, Center for Development Research (ZEF), Bonn, https://nbn-resolving.de/urn:nbn:de:101:1-2022021001555935838790 (Ed.). Bonne, Germany.
- Hrabik, T., Olson, K., Kaspar, T., Sierszen, M. & Matthias, B. (2023). The influence of conditions in Lake Superior and the Bois Brule River, Wisconsin on returns of migratory rainbow trout. *Journal of Great Lakes Research*, 49(2), 506-514.
- Hutchings, J.A. & Ferguson, M.M. (1992). The independence of enzyme heterozygosity and life-history traits in natural populations of *Salvelinus fontinalis* (brook trout). *Heredity*, 69(6), 496-502.
- İnanan, B.E. (2020). Fertilization rate, motility, lipid peroxidation and pH changes after chilled storage of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) eggs and spermatozoa by a RMPI medium. *Aquaculture Research*, 51(1), 222-231.
- Jan, A., Arismendi, I., Giannico, G. & Flitcroft, R. (2023). Habitat overlap among native and introduced cold-water fishes in the Himalayas. *Scientific Reports*, 13(1), 15033-15039.

- Jensen, A.J., Finstad, B. & Fiske, P. (2019). The cost of anadromy: marine and freshwater mortality rates in anadromous Arctic char and brown trout in the Arctic region of Norway. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 76(12), 2408-2417.
- Jiang, X., Dong, S., Liu, R., Huang, M., Dong, K., Ge, J., Gao, Q. & Zhou, Y. (2021). Effects of temperature, dissolved oxygen, and their interaction on the growth performance and condition of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Journal* of Thermal Biology, 98(1029-1038.
- Johnston, T., Prévost, M., Haslam, L. & Addison, P. (2016). Life history variation within and among naturalized rainbow trout populations of the Laurentian Great Lakes. *Journal of Great Lakes Research*, 42(4), 861-870.
- Jonsson, N. & Jonsson, B. (1999). Trade off between egg mass and egg number in brown trout. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 55(4), 767-783.
- Judycka, S., Słowińska, M., Dietrich, M.A., Nynca, J., Liszewska, E. & Ciereszko, A. (2023). Seasonal changes in sperm freezability of sex-reversed female rainbow trout. *Aquaculture*, 562(738777.
- Källo, K., Baktoft, H., Birnie-Gauvin, K. & Aarestrup, K. (2022). Variability in straying behaviour among repeat spawning anadromous brown trout (*Salmo trutta*) followed over several years. *ICES Journal of Marine Science*, **7**9(9), 2453-2460.
- Kant, K., Gupta, K. & Langer, S. (2016). Fecundity in fish *Puntius sophore* and relationship of fecundity with fish length, fish weight and ovary weight from Jammu water bodies J and K (India). *International Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 6(99-110.

- Kanyılmaz, M., Yılayaz, A., Uysal, G., Sevgili, H. & Tabakoğlu, Ş. (2016). Hatchery performance in a major rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*, Walbaum, 1792) seed production area of Turkey. *Journal of Applied Ichthyology*, 32(4), 661-668.
- Katsanevakis, S., Zenetos, A., Belchior, C. & Cardoso, A.C. (2013). Invading European Seas: assessing pathways of introduction of marine aliens. *Ocean* and Coastal Management, 76(64-74.
- KILIÇ, R. (2022). The problem of hunger in the world and a new model proposal to solve this problem. *Balkan Sosyal Bilimler Dergisi*, 11(21), 63-68.
- Kinkela, P.M., Mutiaka, B.K., Dochain, D., Rollin, X., Mafwila, J. & Bindelle, J. (2019). Smallholders' Practices of Integrated Agriculture Aquaculture System in Peri-urban and Rural Areas in Sub Saharan Africa, *Tropicultura*.
- Knudsen, C.M., Schroder, S.L., Pearsons, T.N., Rau, J.A., Fritts, A.L., Scott, J.L. & Strom, C.R. (2003). Monitoring phenotypic and demographic traits of upper Yakima River hatchery and wild spring chinook: gametic and juvenile traits. *Reproductive Ecology of Yakima River Hatchery*, 12(36-45.
- Kocer, M.A.T. & Sevgili, H. (2014). Parameters selection for water quality index in the assessment of the environmental impacts of land-based trout farms. *Ecological Indicators*, 36(672-681.
- Kristensen, M.L., Pedersen, M.W., Thygesen, U.H., del Villar-Guerra, D., Baktoft, H.
 & Aarestrup, K. (2019). Migration routes and habitat use of a highly adaptable salmonid (sea trout, *Salmo trutta*) in a complex marine area. *Animal biotelemetry*, 7(1), 1-13.

- Krueger, C. & Tian, L. (2004). A comparison of the general linear mixed model and repeated measures ANOVA using a dataset with multiple missing data points. *Biological Research for Nursing*, 6(2), 151-157.
- Kurta, K., Jeuthe, H., de Koning, D.-J. & Palaiokostas, C. (2023). Insights from the early generations of the Swedish rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) breeding program. Acta Agriculturae Scandinavica, Section A—Animal Science, 10(1-12.
- Leblanc, C.A., Schreck, C., Kristjánsson, B.K., Skúlason, S. & Noakes, D.L. (2023).
 Egg size–related traits during the first year of growth and smolting in hatchery and wild juveniles of steelhead trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss*. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, 106(5), 1061-1078.
- Lobón-Cerviá, J., Esteve, M., Berrebi, P., Duchi, A., Lorenzoni, M. & Young, K.A. (2019). Trout and char of central and southern Europe and northern Africa. *European Journal of Aquatic Sciences*, 12(379-410.
- Lobon-Cervia, J., Utrilla, c., Rincón, p. & Amezcua, F. (1997). Environmentally induced spatio temporal variations in the fecundity of brown trout *Salmo trutta* L.: trade offs between egg size and number. *Freshwater Biology*, 38(2), 277-288.
- Ma, Z., Zhang, J., Zhang, X., Li, H., Liu, Y. & Gao, L. (2023). Effects of temperature and photoperiod on growth, physiological, and behavioral performance in steelhead trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) under indoor aquaculture condition. *Frontiers in Marine Science*, 10(1114662.
- Maar, A., Mortimer, M. & Van der Lingen, I. (1966). Fish culture in central East Africa, Food & Agriculture Org.

- MacIntyre, C.M., Ellis, T., North, B.P. & Turnbull, J.F. (2008). The influences of water quality on the welfare of farmed rainbow trout: a review. *Fish welfare*, 8(150-184.
- Madenjian, C.P., Dieter, P.M., Desorcie, T.J., Lengnick, S.A., O'Brien, T.P., Benes, L.M., Farha, S.A. & Leonhardt, B.S. (2023). Lake Trout population dynamics in the Northern Refuge of Lake Michigan: Importance of stocking rate. *North American Journal of Fisheries Management*, 12(28-37.
- Maruvada, N.A.P. (2019). Impact of sedimentation on the survival and availability of spawning grounds for brown trout (*Salmo trutta* L.) in the Central Otago streams, University of Otago.
- Miller, L.M., Close, T. & Kapuscinski, A. (2004). Lower fitness of hatchery and hybrid rainbow trout compared to naturalized populations in Lake Superior tributaries. *Molecular Ecology*, 13(11), 3379-3388.
- Mochnacz, N.J., Taylor, M.K., Docker, M.F. & Isaak, D.J. (2023). An ecothermal paradox: bull trout populations diverge in response to thermal landscapes across a broad latitudinal gradient. *Environmental Biology of Fishes*, 106(5), 979-999.
- Molony, B. & Molony, B. (2001). Environmental requirements and tolerances of rainbow trout (Oncorhynchus mykiss) and brown trout (Salmo trutta) with special reference to Western Australia: a review. Department of Fisheries, Government of Western Australia Perth, Australia.
- Morato, T., Afonso, P., Lourinho, P., Barreiros, J.P., Santos, R.S. & Nash, R. (2001). Length–weight relationships for 21 coastal fish species of the Azores, northeastern Atlantic. *Fisheries Research*, 50(3), 297-302.

- Morrisett, C.N., Van Kirk, R.W. & Null, S.E. (2023). Assessing downstream aquatic habitat availability relative to headwater reservoir management in the Henrys Fork Snake River. *River Research and Applications*, 30(2), 21-32.
- Mugwanya, M., Dawood, M.A., Kimera, F. & Sewilam, H. (2022). Anthropogenic temperature fluctuations and their effect on aquaculture: A comprehensive review. Aquaculture and Fisheries, 7(3), 223-243.
- Muhlfeld, C.C., Dauwalter, D.C., D'Angelo, V.S., Ferguson, A., Giersch, J.J., Impson, D., Koizumi, I., Kovach, R., McGinnity, P. & Schöffmann, J. (2019).
 Global status of trout and char: Conservation challenges in the twenty-first century, Trout and char of the world. pp. 717-760.
- Mundahl, N.D. & Schnaser, A.C. (2023). Abundance, cover use, and clustering of brown trout spawning redds during stream habitat rehabilitation. *Ecology of Freshwater Fish*, 44(2), 45-53.
- Munguti, J.M., Kim, J.-D. & Ogello, E.O. (2014). An overview of Kenyan aquaculture: Current status, challenges, and opportunities for future development. *Fisheries and Aquatic Science*, 17(1), 1-11.
- Munguti, J.M., Obiero, K.O., Iteba, J.O., Kirimi, J.G., Kyule, D.N., Orina, P.S., Githukia, C.M., Outa, N., Ogello, E.O. & Mboya, J.B. (2023). Role of multilateral development organizations, public and private investments in aquaculture subsector in Kenya. *Frontiers in Sustainable Food Systems*, 7(1208918.
- Mwamuye, M.K., Cherutich, B.K. & Nyamu, H.M. (2012). Performance of commercial aquaculture under the economic stimulus program in Kenya. *International Journal of Business and Commerce*, 2(3), 1-20.

- Nash, R.D., Valencia, A.H. & Geffen, A.J. (2006). The origin of Fulton's condition factor—setting the record straight. *Fisheries*, 31(5), 236-238.
- Naz, S., Iqbal, S., Khan, R.U., Chatha, A.M.M. & Naz, S. (2023). Aquaculture Fish Responses Towards Temperature Stress: A Critical Review. *Toxicology and Human Health: Environmental Exposures and Biomarkers*, 13(83-132.
- Nepal, A.P., Sharma, S., Bhujel, R.C. & Bahadur, T. (2021). Condition factor, growth performance, and production of Rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) in floating cages in a shallow reservoir in Panauti, Nepal: A preliminary study. *IJFAS*, 9(3), 12-21.
- Nevoux, M., Finstad, B., Davidsen, J.G., Finlay, R., Josset, Q., Poole, R., Höjesjö, J., Aarestrup, K., Persson, L. & Tolvanen, O. (2019). Environmental influences on life history strategies in partially anadromous brown trout (*Salmo trutta*, Salmonidae). *Fish and Fisheries*, 20(6), 1051-1082.
- Nevoux, M., Marie, A.D., Raitif, J., Baglinière, J.-L., Lorvelec, O. & Roussel, J.-M. (2022a). Where does the rainbow end? A case study of self-sustaining rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss* populations in tropical rivers. *BioRxi*, 18(3), 205-215.
- Nevoux, M., Marie, A.D., Raitif, J., Baglinière, J.-L., Lorvelec, O. & Roussel, J.-M. (2022b). Where does the rainbow end? A case study of self-sustaining rainbow trout Oncorhynchus mykiss populations in tropical rivers. *bioRxiv*, 2022.06. 21.497001.
- Ngugi, C. & Green, J. (2000). Information from radio telemetry on movements and exploitation of naturalized rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss* (Walbaum), in Kenya cold water streams.

- Ngugi, C.C., Bowman, J.R. & Omolo, B.O. (2007). A New Guide to Fish Farming in Kenya.
- Ngugi, C.C. & Green, J.M. (2007). Anthropogenic influences on population sizes, age and growth of naturalized rainbow trout, *Oncorhynchus mykiss*, in Kenya. *African Journal of Ecology*, 45(1), 86-93.
- Nicola, G. & Almodóvar, A. (2002). Reproductive traits of stream dwelling brown trout Salmo trutta in contrasting neighbouring rivers of central Spain. *Freshwater Biology*, 47(8), 1353-1365.
- O'Sullivan, R.J., Aykanat, T., Johnston, S.E., Rogan, G., Poole, R., Prodöhl, P.A., De Eyto, E., Primmer, C.R., McGinnity, P. & Reed, T.E. (2020). Captive-bred Atlantic salmon released into the wild have fewer offspring than wild-bred fish and decrease population productivity. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, 287(1937), 20201671-78.
- Obwanga, B., Soma, K., Ayuya, O.I., Rurangwa, E., van Wonderen, D., Beekman, G.
 & Kilelu, C. (2020). Exploring enabling factors for commercializing the aquaculture sector in Kenya, Centre for Development Innovation.
- Okwiri, B., Donde, O.O. & Kibet, C.J. (2019). Status and impacts of non native freshwater fish on fisheries biodiversity and biogeography in Kenya: A management perspective. *Lakes & Reservoirs: Research & Management*, 24(4), 332-343.
- Olalekan, A., Margaret, G. & Orina, P. (2022). Status and Outlook for Climate Resilient Aquaculture in Kenya. *Case Studies in the Environment*, 6(1), 21-29.
- Panasiak, L., Kuciński, M., Hliwa, P., Pomianowski, K. & Ocalewicz, K. (2023). Telomerase activity in somatic tissues and ovaries of diploid and triploid rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) females. *Cells*, 12(13), 1772-1786.

- Pankhurst, N. & King, H. (2010). Temperature and salmonid reproduction: implications for aquaculture. *Journal of Fish Biology*, 76(1), 69-85.
- Pastorino, P., Polazzo, F., Bertoli, M., Santi, M., Righetti, M., Pizzul, E. & Prearo, M. (2019). Consequences of fish introduction in fishless Alpine lakes:
 Preliminary notes from a sanitary point of view. *Turkish Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 20(1), 1-8.
- Paul, K., D'Ambrosio, J. & Phocas, F. (2022). Temporal and region specific variations in genome - wide inbreeding effects on female size and reproduction traits of rainbow trout. *Evolutionary Applications*, 15(4), 645-662.
- Pavel, M., Christoph, M., Travis, I., Matt, J. & Gerard, C. (2022). Is recruitment of brown trout in a New Zealand river driven by parental spawning investment, density dependence, or environmental factors? *Biological Communications*, 67(3), 203-216.
- Person-Le Ruyet, J., Labbé, L., Le Bayon, N., Sévère, A., Le Roux, A., Le Delliou, H. & Quéméner, L. (2008). Combined effects of water quality and stocking density on welfare and growth of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*). *Aquatic Living Resources*, 21(2), 185-195.
- Pinter, K., Epifanio, J. & Unfer, G. (2019). Release of hatchery-reared brown trout (Salmo trutta) as a threat to wild populations? A case study from Austria. Fisheries Research, 219(105296-112.
- Pleizier, N.K., Rost-Komiya, B., Cooke, S.J. & Brauner, C.J. (2021). The lack of avoidance of total dissolved gas supersaturation in juvenile rainbow trout. *Hydrobiologia*, 848(20), 4837-4850.

- Porcel, S., Fogel, M.L., Izaguirre, I., Roesler, I. & Lancelotti, J.L. (2022). Effect of rainbow trout introductions on food webs in lakes of the arid Patagonia. *Hydrobiologia*, 849(9), 2057-2075.
- Poulos, S. (2019). Embryo development under context of hybridization and a review of regional patterns in hybrid frequency of Atlantic salmon and brown trout, Memorial University of Newfoundland.
- Prunier, J.G., Saint Pé, K., Tissot, L., Poulet, N., Marselli, G., Veyssière, C. & Blanchet, S. (2022). Captive - bred ancestry affects spatial patterns of genetic diversity and differentiation in brown trout (*Salmo trutta*) populations. *Aquatic Conservation: Marine and Freshwater Ecosystems*, 32(9), 1529-1543.
- Pulcini, D., Russo, T., Reale, P., Massa Gallucci, A., Brennan, G. & Cataudella, S. (2014). Rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*, Walbaum) develop a more robust body shape under organic rearing. *Aquaculture Research*, 45(3), 397-409.
- Quinn, T.P. (2021). Differential migration in Pacific salmon and trout: patterns and hypotheses. *Animal Migration*, 8(1), 1-18.
- Raine, J., Su, S., Lin, E., Yang, Z., Giesy, J. & Jones, P. (2021). Prefertilization exposure of rainbow trout eggs to per - and polyfluoroalkyl substances to simulate accumulation during oogenesis. *Environmental Toxicology and Chemistry*, 40(11), 3159-3165.
- Rands, M.R., Adams, W.M., Bennun, L., Butchart, S.H., Clements, A., Coomes, D., Entwistle, A., Hodge, I., Kapos, V. & Scharlemann, J.P. (2010). Biodiversity conservation: challenges beyond 2010. *Science*, 329(5997), 1298-1303.

- Rashid, M. & Dobriyal, A.K. (2020). Fecundity analysis of A Freshwater Fish Mastacembelus armatus (Lacepede) From River Nayar, Uttarakhand. Journal of Mountain Research, 15(181-188.
- Rheman, S., Islam, M., Shah, M., Mondal, S. & Alam, M. (2002). Observation on the fecundity and gonadosomatic index (GSI) of grey mullet Liza parsia (Ham.).
 Asian Network for Scientific Information, Pakistan.
- Richer, E.E., Gates, E.A., Kondratieff, M.C. & Herdrich, A.T. (2019). Modelling changes in trout habitat following stream restoration. *River Research and Applications*, 35(6), 680-691.
- Rinaldo, A. (2020). Fecundity and egg size in anadromous brown trout *Salmo trutta*, UiT Norges arktiske universitet.
- Roebuck, K. (2023). Aquaculture: Farming Food from the Sea, The Ocean and Us. Springer. pp. 79-87.
- Royer, E., Faccenda, F. & Pastres, R. (2021). Estimating oxygen consumption of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) in a raceway: A precision fish farming approach. *Aquacultural Engineering*, 92(102141-10232.
- Ryan, B.F., Joiner, B.L. & Cryer, J.D. (2012). *MINITAB handbook: update for release*. Cengage Learning.
- Sahashi, G., Kuroki, M., Nobetsu, T. & Morita, K. (2023). Rainbow trout in the inlet tributaries of Lake Chinishibetsu, Shiretoko Peninsula. *BioRxiv*, 12(12-20.
- Salim, T.I., Haiyunnisa, T. & Alam, H.S. (2016). Design and implementation of water quality monitoring for eel fish aquaculture: 2016 International Symposium on Electronics and Smart Devices (ISESD). IEEE, pp. 208-213.

- Scarnecchia, D.L., Martling, S. and Barnes, M. (2022). The evolution of trout stream management in the Black Hills, 1883–2023, as evidenced through hatchery activities and stocking. *Fisheries*, 3(12-19).
- Schleppenbach, B.T. (2023). Inventory of spawning redd locations and habitat partitioning among five co-occurring salmonids in the Bois Brule River, Wisconsin, University of Minnesota.
- Scott, M.A., Dhillon, R.S., Schulte, P.M. & Richards, J.G. (2015). Physiology and performance of wild and domestic strains of diploid and triploid rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) in response to environmental challenges. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 72(1), 125-134.
- Seanego, K., Pitcher, G., Probyn, T., Du Randt, A. & Mansfield, L. (2023). Water quality characteristics of Vanderkloof Dam and its potential for rainbow trout farming. *Water SA*, 49(2), 136–154-136–154.
- Seegers, L., De Vos, L. & Okeyo, D.O. (2003). Annotated checklist of the freshwater fishes of Kenya (excluding the lacustrine haplochromines from Lake Victoria). *Journal of East African Natural History*, 92(1), 11-47.
- Shindavina, N., Nikandrov, V.Y. & Lukin, A. (2021). Criteria for the estimation of the artificial reproduction efficiency of salmon fish (on the Example of Females of the Lake Char Salvelinus lepechini Gmelin, 1778). Biology Bulletin Reviews, 11(632-639.
- Shoko, A., Limbu, S., Mrosso, H. & Mgaya, Y. (2015). Reproductive biology of female Nile tilapia *Oreochromis niloticus* (Linnaeus) reared in monoculture and polyculture with African sharptooth catfish *Clarias gariepinus* (Burchell). *SpringerPlus*, 4(1-9.

- Shrestha, N. (2020). Detecting multicollinearity in regression analysis. *American Journal of Applied Mathematics and Statistics*, 8(2), 39-42.
- Silvestri, R., Morrone, D., Del Vecchio, P. & Mele, G. (2023). Blue economy and aquaculture before and during the pandemic era: a systematic literature review. *British Food Journal*ahead-of-print).
- Singh, A.K. & Srivastava, S.C. (2023). Environmental drivers inducing habitat expansion and shift of introduced alien trout in the Himalayan ecosystem and management concerns. *Journal for Nature Conservation*, 73(126392.
- Skoglund, H., Vollset, K.W., Wiers, T. & Barlaup, B.T. (2023). Assessing the occurrence of egg stranding for trout and salmon in a regulated river. *River Research and Applications*, 39(4), 768-776.
- Smialek, N., Pander, J. & Geist, J. (2021). Environmental threats and conservation implications for Atlantic salmon and brown trout during their critical freshwater phases of spawning, egg development and juvenile emergence. *Fisheries Management and Ecology*, 28(5), 437-467.
- Smith, D.A., Jackson, D.A. & Ridgway, M.S. (2020). Thermal habitat of Brook Trout in lakes of different size. *Freshwater Science*, 39(1), 56-69.
- Stanković, D., Crivelli, A.J. & Snoj, A. (2015). Rainbow trout in Europe: introduction, naturalization, and impacts. *Reviews in Fisheries Science & Aquaculture*, 23(1), 39-71.
- Stiling, R.R., Holtgrieve, G.W. & Olden, J.D. (2021). Population structure and habitat availability determine resource use by rainbow trout in high elevation lakes. *Freshwater Science*, 40(3), 508-523.

- Suquet, M., Dreanno, C., Fauvel, C., Cosson, J. & Billard, R. (2000). Cryopreservation of sperm in marine fish. Aquaculture Research: Original Articles, 31(3), 231-243.
- Sutton, S.G., Bult, T.P. & Haedrich, R.L. (2000). Relationships among fat weight, body weight, water weight, and condition factors in wild Atlantic salmon parr. *Transactions of the American Fisheries Society*, 129(2), 527-538.
- Syanya, F.J. & Mathia, W.M. (2023). Status of Fish Health and Biosecurity Management Systems in Kenya's Aquaculture Production Units. A Case of Government Authenticated Fish Hatcheries. *Research Square*. *https://doi.org/10.21203/rs.3.rs-2430657/v1(*
- Tamario, C., Degerman, E., Polic, D., Tibblin, P. & Forsman, A. (2021). Size, connectivity and edge effects of stream habitats explain spatio-temporal variation in brown trout (*Salmo trutta*) density. *Proceedings of the Royal Society B*, 288(1961), 2021-2031.
- Tang, R.W., Doka, S.E., Gertzen, E.L. & Neigum, L.M. (2020). Dissolved oxygen tolerance guilds of adult and juvenile Great Lakes fish species. Fisheries and Oceans Canada= Pêches et Océans Burlington, ON, USA.
- Ticto, P. (2012). Relationships between body size, weight, condition and fecundity of the threatened fish *Puntius ticto* (Hamilton, 1822) in the Ganges River, Northwestern Bangladesh. *Sains Malaysiana*, 41(7), 803-814.
- Troell, M., Costa Pierce, B., Stead, S., Cottrell, R.S., Brugere, C., Farmery, A.K., Little, D.C., Strand, Å., Pullin, R. & Soto, D. (2023). Perspectives on aquaculture's contribution to the Sustainable Development Goals for improved human and planetary health. *Journal of the World Aquaculture Society*, 54(2), 251-342.

- Tsoumani, M., Liasko, R., Moutsaki, P., Kagalou, I. & Leonardos, I. (2006). Length– weight relationships of an invasive cyprinid fish (*Carassius gibelio*) from 12
 Greek lakes in relation to their trophic states. *Journal of Applied Ichthyology*. 22(4), 281-284.
- Tsuboi, J.-i., Kaji, K., Baba, S. & Arlinghaus, R. (2019). Trade-offs in the adaptation towards hatchery and natural conditions drive survival, migration, and angling vulnerability in a territorial fish in the wild. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries* and Aquatic Sciences, 76(10), 1757-1767.
- Uiuiu, P., Cocan, D., Constantinescu, R., Lațiu, C., Sava, A., Hegedűs, C., Coroian,
 A., Ihuț, A., Răducu, C. & Mireşan, V. (2020). Water quality parameters
 which influence rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) welfare in classic
 systems. Scientific Papers. Series D. Animal Science, 63(1).
- Van Someren, V.D. (1952). The biology of trout in Kenya Colony. *Unonymous*, 2(2), 21-27.
- Wagaw, S., Mengistou, S. & Getahun, A. (2022). Aspects of the growth and reproductive biology of *Oreochromis niloticus* (Linnaeus, 1758) in a tropical Soda Lake, Lake Shala, Ethiopia. *Fisheries and Aquatic Sciences*, 25(7), 380-389.
- Waldrop, T., Summerfelt, S., Mazik, P., Kenney, P.B. & Good, C. (2020). The effects of swimming exercise and dissolved oxygen on growth performance, fin condition and survival of rainbow trout *Oncorhynchus mykiss*. *Aquaculture Research*, 51(6), 2582-2589.
- Weber, G.M., Martin, K.E., Palti, Y., Liu, S., Beach, J.N. & Birkett, J.E. (2023a). Effects of fertilizing eggs from a summer-spawning line with cryopreserved

milt from a winter-spawning line on spawning date and egg production traits in rainbow trout. *Aquaculture Reports*, 29(101495.

- Weber, G.M., Martin, K.E., Palti, Y., Liu, S., Beach, J.N. & Birkett, J.E. (2023b). Effects of fertilizing eggs from a summer-spawning line with cryopreserved milt from a winter-spawning line on spawning date and egg production traits in rainbow trout. *Aquaculture Reports*, 29(1014-1022.
- Welker, T.L., Overturf, K. & Abernathy, J. (2019). Effect of aeration and oxygenation on growth and survival of rainbow trout in a commercial serial-pass, flowthrough raceway system. *Aquaculture Reports*, 14(1001-1014.
- Weyl, O.L., Ellender, B.R., Ivey, P., Jackson, M.C., Tweddle, D., Wasserman, R.J., Woodford, D.J. & Zengeya, T.A. (2017). Africa: brown trout introductions, establishment, current status, impacts and conflicts. *Brown Trout: Biology, Ecology and Management*, 12(623-639.
- Wilbur, N.M., O'Sullivan, A.M., MacQuarrie, K.T., Linnansaari, T. & Curry, R.A. (2020). Characterizing physical habitat preferences and thermal refuge occupancy of brook trout (*Salvelinus fontinalis*) and Atlantic salmon (*Salmo salar*) at high river temperatures. *River Research and Applications*, 36(5), 769-783.
- Williams, D.M. & Pollard, D. (2003). Extraordinary climates of Earth-like planets: three-dimensional climate simulations at extreme obliquity. *International Journal of Astrobiology*, 2(1), 1-19.
- Winemiller, K.O. & Rose, K.A. (1992). Patterns of life-history diversification in North American fishes: implications for population regulation. *Canadian Journal of Fisheries and aquatic sciences*, 49(10), 2196-2218.

- Wood, P. & Tavan, M. (2022). A review of the alternative protein industry. *Current Opinion in Food Science*, 47(100869.
- Woś, A. & Książek, L. (2022). Hydrodynamics of the Instream Flow Environment of a Gravel-Bed River. Sustainability, 14(22), 1533-1543.
- Yousuf, Z. & Razak, N. (2022). Study on spawning fecundity and its relation with body size of rainbow trout (*Oncorhynchus mykiss*) from Hatchery of Kashmir Himalayas. *Open Access Journa lf Biogeneric Science and Research*, 11(3), 1-6.
- Yu, S.-E., Dong, S.-L., Zhang, Z.-X., Zhang, Y.-Y., Sarà, G., Wang, J. & Dong, Y.-W. (2022). Mapping the potential for offshore aquaculture of salmonids in the Yellow Sea. *Marine Life Science & Technology*, 4(3), 329-342.

APPENDICES

Appendices: a) Attending to the ova, whereby the dead ones are removed to maintain the high water quality and to prevent infection to the live ova by microbes.(b) Eyed ova whereby the ova show to have two dark dots which are the eyes. How quickly the eggs hatch depends on the water temperature.





Appendices 2 : Research Permit



THE SCIENCE, TECHNOLOGY AND INNOVATION ACT, 2013 (Rev. 2014)

Legal Notice No. 108: The Science, Technology and Innovation (Research Licensing) Regulations, 2014

The National Commission for Science, Technology and Innovation, hereafter referred to as the Commission, was the established under the Science, Technology and Innovation Act 2013 (Revised 2014) herein after referred to as the Act. The objective of the Commission shall be to regulate and assure quality in the science, technology and innovation sector and advise the Government in matters related thereto.

CONDITIONS OF THE RESEARCH LICENSE

- The License is granted subject to provisions of the Constitution of Kenya, the Science, Technology and Innovation Act, and other relevant laws, policies and regulations. Accordingly, the licensee shall adhere to such procedures, standards, code of ethics and guidelines as may be prescribed by regulations made under the Act, or prescribed by provisions of International treaties of which Kenya is a signatory to
- 2. The research and its related activities as well as outcomes shall be beneficial to the country and shall not in any way; i. Endanger national security
 - ii. Adversely affect the lives of Kenyans
 - iii. Be in contravention of Kenya's international obligations including Biological Weapons Convention (BWC), Comprehensive Nuclear-Test-Ban Treaty Organization (CTBTO), Chemical, Biological, Radiological and Nuclear (CBRN).
 - iv. Result in exploitation of intellectual property rights of communities in Kenya
 - v. Adversely affect the environment
 - vi. Adversely affect the rights of communities
 - vii. Endanger public safety and national cohesion
 - viii. Plagiarize someone else's work
- 3. The License is valid for the proposed research, location and specified period.
- 4. The license any rights thereunder are non-transferable
- 5. The Commission reserves the right to cancel the research at any time during the research period if in the opinion of the Commission the research is not implemented in conformity with the provisions of the Act or any other written law.
- 6. The Licensee shall inform the relevant County Director of Education, County Commissioner and County Governor before commencement of the research.
- 7. Excavation, filming, movement, and collection of specimens are subject to further necessary clearance from relevant Government Agencies.
- 8. The License does not give authority to transfer research materials.
- 9. The Commission may monitor and evaluate the licensed research project for the purpose of assessing and evaluating compliance with the conditions of the License.
- 10. The Licensee shall submit one hard copy, and upload a soft copy of their final report (thesis) onto a platform designated by the Commission within one year of completion of the research.
- 11. The Commission reserves the right to modify the conditions of the License including cancellation without prior notice.
- 12. Research, findings and information regarding research systems shall be stored or disseminated, utilized or applied in such a manner as may be prescribed by the Commission from time to time.
- 13. The Licensee shall disclose to the Commission, the relevant Institutional Scientific and Ethical Review Committee, and the relevant national agencies any inventions and discoveries that are of National strategic importance.
- 14. The Commission shall have powers to acquire from any person the right in, or to, any scientific innovation, invention or patent of strategic importance to the country.
- 15. Relevant Institutional Scientific and Ethical Review Committee shall monitor and evaluate the research periodically, and make a report of its findings to the Commission for necessary action.

National Commission for Science, Technology and Innovation(NACOSTI), Off Waiyaki Way, Upper Kabete, P. O. Box 30623 - 00100 Nairobi, KENYA Telephone: 020 4007000, 0713788787, 0735404245 E-mail: dg@nacosti.go.ke Website: www.nacosti.go.ke